
CITY OF BRUNSWICK 
601 Gloucester Street * Post Office Box 550 * Brunswick * Georgia * 31520-0550 * (912) 267-5500 * Fax (912) 267-5549 

Cosby H. Johnson, Mayor           City Attorney 
Felicia M. Harris, Mayor Pro Tem          Brian D. Corry 
Kendra L. Rolle, Commissioner 
Lance Sabbe, Commissioner               City Manager 
Gwen Atkinson-Williams, Commissioner     Regina M. McDuffie 

AGENDA 
*** 

BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION  
REGULAR SCHEDULED COMMISSION MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 7, 2024 AT 6:00 P.M. 
1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 

& 
STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESS: 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 

CALL TO ORDER **INVOCATION **PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
1. Adoption August 7, 2024 Regular Scheduled Meeting Agenda.
PUBLIC COMMENT
RECOGNITION(S), PRESENTATION(S), & AWARD(S)
2. Proclamation Presentation to Dr. Kavanaugh Chandler and Staff Recognizing the Week of August 4th 
–10th as Health Center Week.  (Encl. 1)
UPDATE 
3. Glynn-Brunswick 911 Director Cara Richardson to Provide an Update.
APPOINTMENT(S)
4. Commission:

1) Planning and Appeals Commission ~ (1 Alternate Appointment)
ITEM(S) TO CONSIDER FOR APPROVAL 
5. Consider Approval of July 15, 2024 Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes.  (subject to any necessary 

charges.) (N. Atkinson) (Encl. 2)
6. Consider Approval of Memorandum of Understanding Between the City of Brunswick and Glynn 

County for the Submittal of Safe Street Grant for All Application to the Department of Transportation.
(M. Hardin) (Encl. 3)

7. Consider Approval of Grant from Southeast Crescent Regional Commission in the Amount of
$600,000.00 to be Used Towards Albany Street Drainage Improvement Project.  (G. Alberson) (Encl. 4)

8. Consider Approval of the Clean Water Sewer Overflow and Stormwater Municipal Reuse Grant 
Agreement from Georgia Environmental Finance Authority (GEFA) for $1,653,500.00 for the
Albany Street Drainage Improvement Project.  (G. Alberson) (Encl. 5)

9. Consider Approval of an Agreement with Goodwyn Mills Cawood (GMC) for Grant Administration

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga


Page 2 
August 7, 2024 
Brunswick City Commission Agenda 

 Tasks and Contract Document Modifications Associated with Georgia Environmental Finance  
 Authority (GEFA) Clean Water Sewer Overflow and Stormwater Municipal Reuse Grant for 
the  Albany Street Drainage Improvement Project.  (G. Alberson) (Encl. 6) 

10. Consider Approval of Enterprise Zone Incentives for 1420 Newcastle Street.  (M. Hill) (Encl. 7)
11. Consider Approval of Enterprise Zone Incentives for 1617 Norwich Street. (M. Hill) (Encl. 8)
12. Consider Approval of Audit Engagement Letter with Mauldin & Jenkins CPA’s and Advisors. (R. 
McDuffie) (Encl. 9)
13. Consider Approval of Financial Reports as of June 30, 2024.  (R. McDuffie) (Encl. 10)
CITY ATTORNEY’S ITEM(S)
14. Consider Approval of Municipal Court Judge Service Agreement. (Encl. 11)
15. Consider Approval of Glynn-Brunswick 911 Service Agreement for External Entities ~ The Jekyll 
Island-State Park Authority. (Encl. 12)
16. Consider Approval of Glynn-Brunswick 911 Service Agreement for External Entities ~ The Board of 
Regents of the University of Georgia.  (Encl. 13)
17. Consider Approval of St. Mark’s Towers Preservation, LP Development Agreement. (Encl. 14)
18. Discussion ~ Proposed Redevelopment Incentive Ordinance.
EXECUTIVE SESSION
“Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have 
questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the ADA Coordinator Rick Charnock at 912-267-5572 or email 
rcharnock@cityofbrunswick-ga.gov .  Please give at least 48 hours’ notice to allow the city to make reasonable accommodations for those persons(s).” 

mailto:rcharnock@cityofbrunswick-ga.gov


 

Mayor and City Council of  
 

Brunswick, Georgia 
 

Proclamation 
      

WHEREAS,     Coastal Community Health is a private, nonprofit corporation that 
provides high quality comprehensive primary health care to the  medically 
underserved in the City of Brunswick; and 

WHEREAS,     Coastal Community Health makes great strides in Brunswick’s health care 
system specifically by maintaining a high standard of accountability, 
demonstrating cost effectiveness, empowering our community to develop 
programs to its specific needs, enhancing opportunities for children and 
families, and providing health care services in accessible low-cost 
environments; and 
 

WHEREAS,     Coastal Community Health has made a significant difference to our 
residents by improving access to quality preventive health care which 
reduces preventable deaths, costly disabilities, and communicable 
diseases, with aims of 100% access to healthcare and 0 health disparities. 

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Cosby H. Johnson, as Mayor of the City of Brunswick, along with my 

fellow Commissioners, do hereby proclaim August 4-10, 2024 as “Health 
Center Week” and urge our citizens to recognize the important contributions 
made by Coastal Community Health in improving our quality of life.  

 
 
In witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and  
caused this seal to be affixed.  
 
 
 
_______________________________ 

                        Cosby H. Johnson, Mayor 
 
 
 

Attest: __________________________ 
          Naomi D.  Atkinson, City Clerk 
 
Date:  August 7, 2024 



  

OFFICIAL MINUTES  
BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION  
REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, JULY 15, 2024 
 AT 6:00 P.M.  

1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 
& 

STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESS: 
https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 

 
PRESENT:  Honorable Mayor Cosby Johnson, Mayor Pro Tem Felicia Harris, Commissioner  
                       Kendra Rolle, Commissioner Lance Sabbe, and Commissioner Gwen Atkinson- 
                       Williams       
CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Johnson - meeting began at 6:00 p.m.      
INVOCATION: Mayor Pro Tem Harris  
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Recited in unison by all in attendance. 
POINT OF PRIVILEDGE 

** 
Mayor Johnson briefly addressed the loss of life at a political rally this past weekend and the loss of 

life of a 16-year-old child in the City of Brunswick. 
** 

ADDENDUM(S) TO AGENDA 
Commissioner Sabbe made a motion to add as item number eight (8) under City Attorney’s Item(s) ~ 
“Consider Approval of Transit Memorandum of Understanding with Glynn County”; seconded by 
Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion passed unanimously.  
Commissioner Rolle made a motion to defer item number seven (7) under City Attorney’s Item(s) 
“Consider Approval of Municipal Court Judge Service Agreement.”; until the August 7, 2024 
Commission meeting; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion passed unanimously. 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
1. Adoption July 15, 2024 Regular Meeting Agenda.  
    Mayor Pro Tem Harris made a motion to approve the above-referenced agenda; with the  
    aforementioned addendums; seconded by Commissioner Atkinson-Williams.  Motion passed  
    unanimously. 
PUBLIC COMMENT  

1. Nathalee McNeely, 3323 N. Cleburne Street addressed the commission regarding her 
concerns about an event that occurs frequently in her neighborhood. 

2. Tavel Cowan, Bike/Walk Golden Isles addressed the commission regarding her support in 
the approval of item number five (5) “Consider Approval of Approval of a Contract for 
Construction of the Martin Luther King–Altama Bicycle Corridor along Martin Luther King 
Boulevard Between Prince Street and Gloucester Street.   

UPDATE 
2. Ryan Moore, President/CEO of Golden Isles Development Authority to Provide an Update. 
    Following questions and responses; the commission thanked Mr. Moore for the informative  
    update. 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga


2 
 

APPOINTMENT(S)  
3. Authority: 

1) Glynn-Brunswick Memorial Hospital Authority ~ (Three Nominations) 
     Commissioner Atkinson-Williams moved to nominate Dr. Cathy Slay-Chipp as a nominee for  
     consideration of appointment to Glynn-Brunswick Memorial Hospital Authority; seconded by     
     Commissioner Sabbe.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
     Commissioner Atkinson-Williams moved to nominate Beverly Floyd-Lewis as a nominee for  
     consideration of appointment to Glynn-Brunswick Memorial Hospital Authority; seconded by     
     Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion passed by a vote of 4 to 0 with Commissioner Rolle abstaining. 
 
     Commissioner Atkinson-Williams moved to nominate Dr. Rhonda Waller as a nominee for  
     consideration of appointment to Glynn-Brunswick Memorial Hospital Authority; seconded by     
     Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion passed unanimously. 
ITEM(S) TO CONSIDER FOR APPROVAL 
4. Approval of July 3, 2024 Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes.  (subject to any necessary charges.) 
      (N. Atkinson)  
    Commissioner Sabbe made a motion to approve the above-referenced minutes; seconded by  
    Commissioner Rolle.  Motion passed unanimously. 
5. Consider Approval of Contract for Construction of the Martin Luther King – Altama Bicycle  
    Corridor along Martin Luther King Boulevard Between Prince Street and Gloucester Street.   
    (G. Alberson).  
    Commissioner Sabbe made a motion to approve contract with Curb & Gutter Professionals in the 
    amount of $225,190.68; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion passed unanimously. 
6. Consider Approval of Resolution Number 2024-07 - Declaring Action for The Great American  
    Cleanup.  (L. Badyna)  
     Mayor Pro Tem Harris made a motion to approve the above-referenced resolution; seconded by  
     Commissioner Sabbe.  Motion passed unanimously. 
CITY ATTORNEY’S ITEM(S) 
7. Consider Approval of Municipal Court Judge Service Agreement.  

~ The above-referenced item was deferred until August 7th commission meeting. ~ 
8. Consider Approval of Transit Memorandum of Understanding with Glynn County. 
    Commissioner Sabbe made a motion to approve the above-referenced Memorandum of  
    Understanding; seconded by Commissioner Atkinson-Williams.  Motion passed unanimously. 
EXECUTIVE SESSION  
Commissioner Atkinson-Williams moved to hold an executive session to discuss real estate and 
personnel; seconded by Commissioner Rolle.  Motion passed unanimously. 
RECONVENE FROM EXECTIVE SESSION 
Commissioner Sabbe made a motion to approve the recommendation on litigation provided by 
City Attorney Corry in executive session; seconded by Commissioner Atkinson-Williams.  
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Commissioner Rolle moved to adjourn; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Harris. Motion passed 
unanimously. 

MEETING ADJOURNED – meeting adjourned at 8:28 p.m. 

 



3 
 

        /s/Cosby H. Johnson   
        Cosby H. Johnson, Mayor  
Attest: /s/ Naomi D. Atkinson 
            Naomi D. Atkinson 
            City Clerk 
 



 

 

Subject: __Safe Streets for All Grant Memorandum of Understanding 

Brief summary of what you will address the Commission on: 

Glynn County is respectfully requesting approval of the attached Memorandum of 

Understanding (MOU) between the City of Brunswick and the Glynn County 

Board of Commissioners. This MOU is part of a Safe Streets for All grant 

application that will be submitted to the US Department of Transportation. This 

grant emphasizes a Multi-jurisdictional request to help create a Safety Action Plan 

for the City of Brunswick and Glynn County. The Safety Action Plans are intended 

to help prevent death and serious injuries on roads and streets involving all 

roadway users, including pedestrians; bicyclists, public transportation, personal 

conveyance, and micromobility users. The federal share of this grant is 80% and 

the local match is 20%. The total project cost is estimated at $400,000 with a 

federal share of $320,000 and a local cash match of $80,000. The local cash match 

will be shared between the City and County, having the city contribute $14,400 

and the County $65,600.  

 

 



__________________________________________________________________ 

        _Monica Hardin__________ 

        Name 

1725 Reynolds Street,  
Suite 300 
Brunswick, Georgia 31520 

        Address 

Meeting Date:  _7/26/24_____    Phone Number: 912-554-7133   

 



1 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING  
BY AND BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA 
AND  

GLYNN COUNTY, GEORGIA 

This MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (hereinafter referred to as the 

“MOU”), is made and entered into as of the ______ day of_________, 2024, by and between the 

CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA, a municipal corporation of the State of Georgia, acting 

by and through its duly elected Board of Commissioners (hereinafter the "City"), and GLYNN 

COUNTY, GEORGIA, a political subdivision of the State of Georgia, acting by and through its 

duly elected Board of Commissioners (hereinafter the “County”) (collectively the “Parties”). 

WITNESSETH: 

 WHEREAS, the City and the County wish to apply for the Fiscal Year 2024 Safe Streets 

and Roads for All Grant (the “SS4A”) Program issued and administered by the United States 

Department of Transportation (“DOT”); and  

 WHEREAS, the City and the County have agreed to partner to submit an application for 

the SS4A Planning and Demonstration Grant to DOT as this partnership is mutually beneficial to 

the Parties; and  

 WHEREAS, the City and the County have determined that the County will be the host 

applicant for the SS4A; and 

 WHEREAS, the Parties recognize that submission of the _________ SS4A application 

will require the Parties to follow the rules and restrictions stated in the Notice of Funding 

Opportunity FY24 Safe Streets and Road for All Funding (the “NOFO”); and 

WHEREAS, the Parties intend to use the SS4A funds to create a Safety Action Plan and 

support planning, infrastructure, behavioral, and operational initiatives to prevent death and 



2 
 

serious injury on roads and streets involving all roadway users, including pedestrians, bicyclists, 

public transportation, commercial vehicle operators, and others; and  

WHEREAS, the SS4A Program requires that applicants make available non-federal funds 

to carry out an SS4A Program award in an amount not less than 20% of the federal funds awarded 

(the “Match”), taking into account the number of residents served by the Parties; and  

 WHEREAS, it is the desire of the signatories hereto to enter into an MOU establishing the 

portion of the Match that will be paid for by each Party and the responsibilities of each Party in 

relation to the SS4A. 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and for 

other good and valuable consideration, the Parties hereto agree as follows: 

Section 1. Purpose 

 This MOU outlines a cost-sharing arrangement between the Parties for the purpose of 

applying for the SS4A and distributing any funds received through the SS4A Program to create a 

Safety Action Plan in an effort to improve roadway safety in the County and the City.  The MOU 

also establishes the individual and mutual responsibilities of each Party, each Party’s level of 

involvement in the SS4A project, and the proposed distribution of all SS4A-funded assets.  

Section 2. Term 

 The term of this MOU shall be from the date last signed by the Parties until the end of the 

Period of Performance as established in the SS4A award documents. 

Section 3. EIN 

 As required by the NOFO, each Party’s EIN is as follows: 

 County: 58-6000430 

 City: 58-6000525 



3 
 

Section 4. Responsibilities 

 The Parties agree to follow the rules and requirements of the NOFO.  The Parties agree to 

collect data that will allow DOT to measure performance of the awarded grant in supporting SS4A 

Program metrics, which are tied to the programmatic objectives and priorities.  The City will 

provide any information required by the NOFO to the County, and the County will provide the 

information to DOT or the proper Federal agency at the appointed times described in the NOFO. 

The County agrees to gather the requisite documentation to complete and submit the 

application for the SS4A on behalf of the Parties. The City may provide County with input and 

suggestions on the SS4A application, as may be appropriate or needed under the circumstances or 

as may be requested by County.  Acceptance of the SS4A is subject to the final Local acceptance 

and approval of the Parties after award of the SS4A.   

If the SS4A is awarded to the Parties, the County agrees to conduct procurement of 

consultant services for the Parties under the SS4A in accordance with Section 6 of this MOU, 

Procurement and Payment.  The Parties agree to the required Match as set forth in the NOFO, and 

each Party will be ready to provide such funding for the SS4A project in the amount of money 

specified in Section 5, Cost Sharing, upon grant award and at the time and in the manner provided 

in Section 6.   

The County agrees, upon award of the SS4A to the Parties, to submit all required financial 

and programmatic progress reports to DOT, as required in the NOFO.  Each Party shall also be 

responsible for coordinating information requests from the other Party in a timely manner.  The 

County will submit any documentation necessary to seek reimbursement through the SS4A award, 

and the City will provide the County with any documentation needed for such submission.    

 



4 
 

Section 5. Cost Sharing 

 The total SS4A grant amount that the Parties are seeking is $400,000.00.  The expected 

amount of the Match for the requested SS4A funds is $80,000.00, which is 20% of the total funds 

requested. The Parties hereby agree to share the cost of the Match, with each Party’s share of the 

Match determined in proportion to each Party’s population numbers.  Accordingly, for the Match 

of the SS4A funds, the County will pay $65,600.00 (82% of the Match), and the City will pay 

$14,400.00 (18% of the Match).   

Should the cost of the Match be less than the expected amounts stated herein, each Party’s 

contributions under this MOU shall be reduced proportionally.   

Should the cost of hiring a consultant to create a Safety Action Plan for the Parties exceed 

the amount of SS4A funding received by the Parties, the Parties agree to share the remaining cost 

of the consultant in proportion to the percentage of the Match the Parties have agreed to pay under 

this MOU. 

Section 6. Procurement and Payment  

The County will conduct the procurement process for the consultant services as prescribed 

in the NOFO and in accordance with any applicable Federal, State, and local laws.  The County 

will select only one consultant for both jurisdictions and will pay the selected consultant for its 

services.  The County will then provide copies of the invoices for the consultant to the City and 

request reimbursement from the City for the City’s portion of the Match as discussed in Section 5 

hereinabove. 

The City shall remit its portion of the Match payment directly to the County within thirty 

(30) business days of receipt of an invoice from County.     

 



5 
 

Section 7. Audits and Monitoring 

The expenditure of funds under this MOU is subject to the annual audit requirements of 

the federal government (including but not limited to the Single Audit Act of 1984, Public Law 98-

502, the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996, Public Law 104-156, and the Office of 

Management and Budget audit requirements implemented in OMB Circular A-133).   

The City shall provide the County with any documentation relevant to the activities 

governed by this MOU as requested by County in relation to any audit conducted by the Federal 

government regarding the expenditure of SS4A funds. 

City will provide information to enable the County to comply with reporting requirements 

regarding the use of SS4A funds, to the extent required by the DOT or other federal agency.  

Additionally, each Party will comply with any and all reporting requirements placed upon it as a 

grantee by the Treasury or other Federal government agency in relation to the SS4A funds.   

As the host of the Parties’ SS4A application, the County will submit the requisite 

Performance Progress Report (the “PPR”) as described in the NOFO.  The City will provide the 

County with any information needed for the PPR or any other report requested by DOT or any 

other Federal agency concerning the SS4A. 

Section 8. Records 

Each Party shall retain any financial records, supporting documents, statistical records, and 

all other records that are in the Party’s custody related to the SS4A funds for a period of five (5) 

years after the date of the Parties’ close-out letter.  

Section 9. Conflict of Interest 

Each Party agrees and warrants that it presently has no financial interest and shall not 

acquire any financial interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree 



6 
 

with the expenditure of funds contemplated by this MOU.  Each Party further covenants that in 

the performance of this MOU, no person having such a financial interest shall be employed or 

retained by a Party hereunder.  

The Parties recognize and agree that there is no conflict of interest affecting the awarding 

of the SS4A funds. 

These conflict-of-interest provisions apply to any person who is an employee, agent, 

consultant, officer, or elected official or appointed official of any of the Parties.  

Section 10. Nondiscrimination 

No Party will discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of 

race, color, creed, religion, ancestry, national origin, sex, disability or other handicap, age, marital 

status, or status with regard to public assistance.  Each Party will take affirmative action to ensure 

that all employment practices are free from such discrimination. Such employment practices 

include but are not limited to the following: firing, upgrading, demoting, transferring, recruiting, 

or recruitment advertising, layoff, termination, rates of pay or other forms of compensation, and 

selection for training, including apprenticeship. Each Party agrees to post in conspicuous places, 

available to employees and applicants for employment, notices setting forth the provisions of this 

nondiscrimination clause. 

Section 11. Notices 

 All notices, consents, waivers, directions, requests or other instruments or communications 

provided for under this MOU shall be deemed properly given when delivered personally or sent 

by registered or certified United States mail, postage prepaid, as follows: 

 

 



7 
 

 If to City of Brunswick, Georgia:  If to Glynn County, Georgia: 
 City of Brunswick, Georgia    Glynn County, Georgia 
 Attn:  City Manager     Attn:  County Manager 
 City Hall     1725 Reynolds Street, Suite 302 
 601 Gloucester Street     Brunswick, Georgia 31520 
 Brunswick, Georgia 31320 
  

Section 12. Termination 

 Either Party may terminate this MOU at any time, for any reason or no reason, by providing 

the other Party with written notice thirty (30) days prior to the date of termination. 

 The Parties recognize that any termination of this MOU may jeopardize the status of the 

SS4A funds.  Accordingly, any Party that terminates this MOU must reimburse the other Party 

with the terminating Party’s portion of any SS4A funds that a Federal department or agency 

requires the Parties to return and/or pay back because of termination of the MOU. 

Section 13. Entire Agreement 

 This MOU, including any attachments or exhibits, constitutes all of the understandings and 

agreements existing between the County and the City with respect to the subject matter hereof. 

Furthermore, this MOU supersedes all prior agreements, negotiations and communications of 

whatever type, whether written or oral, between the Parties hereto with respect to the subject matter 

hereof. 

Section 14. Amendments 

 This MOU shall not be amended or modified except by agreement in writing executed by 

the governing authorities of the Parties. 

Section 15. Governing Law 

 This MOU shall be deemed to have been made and shall be construed and enforced in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia. 

 



8 
 

Section 16. Severability 

 Should any phrase, clause, sentence, or paragraph of this MOU be held invalid or 

unconstitutional, the remainder of the MOU shall remain in full force and effect as if such invalid 

or unconstitutional provision were not contained in the MOU unless the elimination of such 

provision detrimentally reduces the consideration that any Party is to receive under this MOU or 

materially affects the operation of this MOU. 

Section 17. Compliance with Law  

 The County and the City shall comply with all applicable local, state, and federal statutes, 

ordinances, rules and regulations. 

 The Parties will comply with any and all rules or regulations issued by the Department of 

the Treasury (also referred to herein as “Treasury”) with regard to the transfer and use of the SS4A 

funds.  The Parties recognize that they are prohibited from using the SS4A funds for: political 

activities; inherently religious activities; and/or lobbying, political patronage, and/or nepotism 

activities. 

 Each Party agrees to comply with Part 200 of the Uniform Administrative Requirements, 

Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards as applicable to local governments.  

Each Party is responsible for obtaining, reviewing, understanding, and complying with all 

federal rules, regulations and statutes applicable to federal funding, including those federal rules, 

regulations and statutes that are included by reference pursuant to the SS4A rules. 

No Federal appropriated funds will be paid, by or on behalf of any Party, to any person for 

influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of 

Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in 

connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making 



9 
 

of any Federal loan, the entering of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, 

renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 

agreement. 

Section 18. No Consent to Breach 

 No consent or waiver, express or implied, by any Party to this MOU, to any breach of any 

covenant, condition or duty of another Party shall be construed as a consent to or waiver of any 

future breach of the same. 

Section 19. Counterparts 

 This MOU may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and 

all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

 

(this space left intentionally blank; signatures on the following page) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



10 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Glynn County, Georgia and City of Brunswick, Georgia, 

have caused this MOU to be executed in their respective names and their respective official seals 

to be hereunto affixed and attested by their duly authorized officials, all as of the date first above 

written. 

CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA: 
 

(SEAL)       
By: _________________________________ 

       Cosby H. Johnson, Mayor 
       City of Brunswick 

 
 
Attest: _________________________________ 

       Naomi Atkinson, City Clerk 
       
 
      GLYNN COUNTY, GEORGIA: 
 
(SEAL)      
      By: _________________________________ 
       Wayne Neal, Chairman 
       Glynn County Board of Commissioners 
 
 

Attest: _________________________________ 
       Ronda Vakulich, County Clerk 
 

 



Page | 1 

SUBJECT: SOUTHEAST CRESCENT REGIONAL COMMISSION GRANT 
AGREEMENT FOR ALBANY STREET DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS  

 COMMISSION ACTION REQUESTED ON:             August 7, 2024 

PURPOSE: 

Approval of a State Economic and Infrastructure Development grant in the amount of $600,000 
from the Southeast Crescent Regional Commission 

HISTORY: 

Albany Street is a major north-south corridor through the City of Brunswick.  The section of 
Albany Street between F and G Streets is a low-lying area of the city.  Along with the low 
topography, the drainage infrastructure in this area is severely undersized.  These factors 
contribute to this area being one of the first areas to flood during rainfall events. 

The City’s Storm Water Master Plan was completed in February 2020.  The plan evaluated 
several areas of town for storm water deficiencies.  After identifying 15 drainage problem areas 
in the City, the plan prioritized these areas in order of importance for projected improvement.  
The prioritization was based on several factors including roadway or building flooding issues, 
undersized or lack of infrastructure, tide control, and maintenance issues.  Following the 
identification and prioritization of the potential projects, the Albany Street project was listed as 
the #1 project in need of improvement within the City. 

FACTS AND ISSUES: 

The project design and construction plans have been completed for the Albany Street Drainage 
Improvement project.  A construction contract has been awarded to Woodard Construction 
Company.  The tentative start date for construction is around October 2024. 

City staff submitted an application to the Southeast Crescent Regional Commission (SCRC) for a 
State Economic and Infrastructure Development (SEID) grant.  The SCRC received 103 full 
applications for this grant program and awarded 57 grants.  The City of Brunswick has been 
awarded a grant of $600,000 for the Albany Street Drainage Improvement Project.  There is no 
local match required for this grant. 



Page | 2 

BUDGET INFORMATION: 

The total amount of this grant funding ($600,000) will be paid toward the Albany Street 
Drainage Improvement project. 

OPTIONS: 

1. Authorize the Mayor to sign an agreement with the Southeast Crescent Regional
Commission for a State Economic and Infrastructure Development Grant in the amount
of $600,000

2. Do not authorize the Mayor to sign an agreement with the Southeast Crescent Regional
Commission for a State Economic and Infrastructure Development Grant in the amount
of $600,000

3. Take no action at this time.

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

Authorize the Mayor to sign an agreement with the Southeast Crescent Regional 
Commission for a State Economic and Infrastructure Development Grant in the amount 
of $600,000 

DEPARTMENT: Engineering  

Prepared by: Garrow Alberson, P.E., Director of Engineering and Public Works 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS: 

ADMINISTRATIVE RECOMMENDATION: 

Authorize the Mayor to sign an agreement with the Southeast Crescent Regional 
Commission for a State Economic and Infrastructure Development Grant in the amount 
of $600,000 

________________________________ 

City Manager

__7/29/24_______________ 

Date     



ALBANY STREET DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS

Summary of Funding Sources & Uses  

FUNDING USES  $$ Amount 
Construction Contract 3,610,607.00     

TOTAL ESTIMATED PROJECT COSTS 3,610,607.00$  

FUNDING SOURCES

GEFA Grant Funds 1,653,500.00     
SEID Grant Funds 600,000.00        
SPLOST 22 - Storm Drainage 1,357,107.00     

TOTAL FUNDING SOURCES 3,610,607.00$  



 

1901 Assembly St., Suite 370 | Columbia, SC | 29201 | (803) 851-3356 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

July 19, 2024 
 
Mary Jo DiAngelo 
601 Gloucester Street 
Brunswick, Georgia 31520 

 
RE: City of Brunswick SCRC FY2023 SEID Grant Award Letter 

 
Dear Mary Jo DiAngelo: 
 
On behalf of the Federal Co-Chair, Dr. Jennifer Clyburn Reed, States’ Co-Chair, Governor Kemp, and all associated with 
the Southeast Crescent Regional Commission (SCRC), we congratulate you and your organization for receiving a FY2023 
SEID Grant award in the amount of $600,000. 
 
SCRC received 103 full applications for the inaugural FY 2023 SEID Grant Program, requesting over $36.1 million in 
total funding. Across the six participating states, 57 applications were selected, and we congratulate you! 
 
Please note that while you have been awarded a SEID grant, additional information is needed before you can move 
forward with your project or incur any expenses to be paid for by this grant award. Please review the content of this 
award letter carefully and return all requested materials by July 26, 2024. 
 
You may not move forward on your project or expend any grant or matching funds until you receive a Notice to Proceed 
(NTP) or Limited Notice to Proceed (LNTP) from SCRC. SCRC and/or match/cost share funds expended prior to the 
issuance of the Notice to Proceed or Limited Notice to Proceed are not eligible for reimbursement and may not be counted 
as match. Expenditures of grant and matching funds prior to receiving a NTP or LNTP could result in SCRC 
reducing or rescinding your award. For additional information regarding the issuance of the Notice to Proceed, please 
refer to SCRC’s Grant Administration and Compliance Manual. 
 
In order to expedite the NTP or LNTP process, all grantees must complete the following steps: 
 

1. Attend a mandatory new grantee training session on August 5th, 6th, 7th, or 8th. 
Please see the details below for the required new grantee training. The training will be held via Zoom and is 
intended to provide you with information on the life cycle of the award, procurement and reimbursement 
processes, reporting requirements for grant compliance, as well as a review of NEPA and fulfillment of the Build 
America Buy America (BABA) for construction grantees.  
 
SCRC will host two training sessions for construction grants on Aug. 6th at 10:30 AM and Aug. 8th at 2:30 PM 
and two training sessions for non-construction grants on Aug. 5th at 2:30 PM and Aug. 7th at 10:30 AM.  At least 
one member of the project management team per grant is required to attend.  These trainings will be held virtually 
via this link:  https://www.zoomgov.com/j/1618318115?pwd=aWxxUStuNWl1TXZSMm5RZ05mZzJldz09 
 
2. Execute secondary documentation necessary for SCRC to begin the process to obligate funding. 
In addition to this letter, we have enclosed two financial forms, the SF 3881 – ACH and the Federal W9 forms, as 
well as Project Point of Contact Form, which must be completed and returned to SCRC no later than July 26, 
2024.   
 

https://www.zoomgov.com/j/1618318115?pwd=aWxxUStuNWl1TXZSMm5RZ05mZzJldz09


 

1901 Assembly St., Suite 370 | Columbia, SC | 29201 | (803) 851-3356 
 

 
 
 
3. Construction grants must complete the required environmental review process (NEPA).  
SCRC’s NEPA process complies with federal requirements and in partnership with engineering firm, M. Baker 
International. The NEPA process must be finalized before a full NTP is issued. If your project needs access to 
SCRC funds to complete NEPA, you will be allowed to work under a LNTP to cover these costs.  Please 
complete an updated NEPA Intake Form and return it to SCRC at your earliest convenience. This will also be 
discussed at the technical assistance training if you need more support with the process.  As soon as this 
document is returned, the NEPA process can begin and SCRC, in conjunction with M. Baker International, 
will provide additional guidance on NEPA once this documentation has been reviewed.  
 
Please email the following documents to grants@scrc.gov no later than July 26, 2024. 

 
 Executed acknowledgment of award letter by the project’s authorized official (this document 

signed) 
 Executed SF-3881 ACH form  
 Grantee Specific Federal W9 Form 
 Project Point of Contact Form  

 
We are excited to begin the grant process with you! To assist us with providing you responsive grant recipient service, use 
grants@scrc.gov for all correspondence with SCRC. Please include Project Name and SCRC grant number 
(SEID23GA008) in the subject line of every email communication. 
 
We wish you great success with your project and look forward to working with you, 
 
SCRC Grants and Programs Office 
 
Cc: Brittany Pittman, brittany.pittman@dca.ga.gov 
 
 

 

 

I, _______________________________________________________ am the Authorized Official for  

the above-referenced project _________________________________________________  
 
and acknowledge the requirements of the SCRC award as identified above.   

  

________________________________________ _________________________________ 
Signature of Authorized Official   Date 
 
________________________________________ 
Printed Name of Authorized Official 

 
 

mailto:grants@scrc.gov
mailto:grants@scrc.gov


Page | 1 
 

 

SUBJECT: GEORGIA ENVIRNOMENTAL FINANCE AUTHORITY GRANT 
AGREEMENT FOR ALBANY STREET DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS  

 COMMISSION ACTION REQUESTED ON:             August 7, 2024 

PURPOSE: 

Approval of a Clean Water Sewer Overflow and Stormwater Municipal Reuse grant agreement 
from Georgia Environmental Finance Authority (GEFA) for $1,653,500 

HISTORY: 

Albany Street is a major north-south corridor through the City of Brunswick.  The section of 
Albany Street between F and G Streets is a low-lying area of the city.  Along with the low 
topography, the drainage infrastructure in this area is severely undersized.  These factors 
contribute to this area being one of the first areas to flood during rainfall events. 

The City’s Storm Water Master Plan was completed in February 2020.  The plan evaluated 
several areas of town for storm water deficiencies.  After identifying 15 drainage problem areas 
in the City, the plan prioritized these areas in order of importance for projected improvement.  
The prioritization was based on several factors including roadway or building flooding issues, 
undersized or lack of infrastructure, tide control, and maintenance issues.  Following the 
identification and prioritization of the potential projects, the Albany Street project was listed as 
the #1 project in need of improvement within the City. 

FACTS AND ISSUES: 

The project design and construction plans have been completed for the Albany Street Drainage 
Improvement project.  A construction contract has been awarded to Woodard Construction 
Company.  The tentative start date for construction is around October 2024. 

The project design includes a green infrastructure component to capture and infiltrate stormwater 
runoff prior to conveyance and discharge to the downstream system.  Due to this green 
infrastructure aspect of the project, the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority has offered 
funding assistance to the City of Brunswick in the amount of $1,653,500. 

The funding is available through the Clean Water Sewer Overflow and Stormwater Municipal 
Reuse grant program, also known as the Overflow and Stormwater grant, or OSG).  The OSG 
funds come from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and are administered through 
GEFA.  There are no local match requirements for this funding. 



Page | 2 
 

BUDGET INFORMATION: 

The total amount of this grant funding ($1,653,500) will be paid toward the Albany Street 
Drainage Improvement project. 

 

 

OPTIONS: 

1. Authorize the Mayor to sign an agreement with the Georgia Environmental Finance 
Authority for a Clean Water Sewer Overflow and Stormwater Municipal Reuse Grant in 
the amount of $1,653,500 

2. Do not authorize the Mayor to sign an agreement with the Georgia Environmental 
Finance Authority for a Clean Water Sewer Overflow and Stormwater Municipal Reuse 
Grant in the amount of $1,653,500 

3. Take no action at this time. 

 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

Authorize the Mayor to sign an agreement with the Georgia Environmental Finance 
Authority for a Clean Water Sewer Overflow and Stormwater Municipal Reuse Grant in 
the amount of $1,653,500 

 

 

 

DEPARTMENT: Engineering   

Prepared by: Garrow Alberson, P.E., Director of Engineering and Public Works 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS: 

 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE RECOMMENDATION: 

 

 



Page | 3 

Authorize the Mayor to sign an agreement with the Georgia Environmental Finance 
Authority for a Clean Water Sewer Overflow and Stormwater Municipal Reuse Grant in 
the amount of $1,653,500 

________________________________ 

City Manager

_7/29/24______________ 

Date     



ALBANY STREET DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS

Summary of Funding Sources & Uses  

FUNDING USES  $$ Amount 
Construction Contract 3,610,607.00     

TOTAL ESTIMATED PROJECT COSTS 3,610,607.00$  

FUNDING SOURCES

GEFA Grant Funds 1,653,500.00     
SEID Grant Funds 600,000.00        
SPLOST 22 - Storm Drainage 1,357,107.00     

TOTAL FUNDING SOURCES 3,610,607.00$  









































Page | 1 
 

 

SUBJECT: GEFA GRANT ADMINISTRATION FOR ALBANY STREET DRAINAGE 
IMPROVEMENTS – GOODWYN MILLS CAWOOD 

 COMMISSION ACTION REQUESTED ON:             August 7, 2024 

PURPOSE: 

Approval of an agreement with Goodwyn Mills Cawood (GMC) for grant administration tasks 
and contract document modifications associated with the GEFA Clean Water Sewer Overflow 
and Stormwater Municipal Reuse grant for the Albany Street Drainage Improvement project 

HISTORY: 

As the top priority stormwater improvement project listed in the City’s Stormwater Master Plan, 
the Albany Street Drainage Improvement project has been designed and set for construction.  
Goodwyn Mills Cawood (GMC) completed the project design and stormwater modeling, 
prepared construction drawings and contract documents, and assisted with contract bid and 
contractor selection.  

FACTS AND ISSUES: 

Following the project design and near the completion of the contract documents, GMC was able 
to arrange a connection with Georgia Environmental Protection Division (EPD) and Georgia 
Environmental Finance Authority (GEFA) for project funding through the Clean Water Sewer 
Overflow and Stormwater Municipal Reuse Grant Program.  The Overflow and Stormwater 
Grant (OSG) program includes funding from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and is 
administered through GEFA.  Following additional conversations with GEFA, the City has been 
offered a grant of $1,653,000 toward the Albany Street Drainage Improvement project. 

Due to the fact that the grant funding involves additional state and federal agencies (U.S. EPA, 
Ga EPD, GEFA), there are additional requirements that must be met in the project contract 
documents and construction administration.  The contract documents were modified to include 
federal Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) requirements and Davis-Bacon Wage Rate 
requirements.  During construction, additional administrative tasks will be required to monitor 
wage rates and conduct interviews, provide grant updates and reimbursement applications and 
review contractor’s pay applications for adherence to federal requirements.  GMC has submitted 
an amendment to the original design agreement to provide these additional services to the City 
during the construction of the project. 



Page | 2 
 

The GMC amendment also includes compensation for modifications required during the design 
of the project to account for elevation and ground cover issues, as well as resolution of utility 
conflicts.  Preparation of record drawings at the completion of construction is also included in 
the amendment, as is erosion and sedimentation control inspections. 

BUDGET INFORMATION: 

The cost of the GMC amendment to the design agreement is $79,000.  This cost will be paid 
from SPLOST-22 Storm Drainage funds. 

 

 

OPTIONS: 

1. Authorize the Mayor to sign an amendment to the project design agreement with 
Goodwyn Mills Cawood in the amount of $79,000 for construction administration 
services for the Albany Street Drainage Improvement project.  

2. Do not authorize the Mayor to sign an amendment to the project design agreement with 
Goodwyn Mills Cawood in the amount of $79,000 for construction administration 
services for the Albany Street Drainage Improvement project.  

3. Take no action at this time. 

 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

Authorize the Mayor to sign an amendment to the project design agreement with 
Goodwyn Mills Cawood in the amount of $79,000 for construction administration 
services for the Albany Street Drainage Improvement project.  

 

DEPARTMENT: Engineering   

Prepared by: Garrow Alberson, P.E., Director of Engineering and Public Works 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS: 

 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE RECOMMENDATION: 

 



Page | 3 

Authorize the Mayor to sign an amendment to the project design agreement with 
Goodwyn Mills Cawood in the amount of $79,000 for construction administration 
services for the Albany Street Drainage Improvement project.  

________________________________ 

City Manager

__7/29/24_____________ 

Date     

Naomi Atkinson
Cross-Out

Naomi Atkinson
Inserted Text
7/29/24



1 
 

EXHIBIT A 

 

AUTHORIZATION FOR WORK NO. 02, Amendment #5* 

*Amendment #5 items are noted in blue text 

This Amendment includes additional engineering to finalize engineering plans and expanded 

construction administration services. 

 

Narrative: Based on the Albany Street Drainage Project’s final design to include a combination 

of green and gray infrastructure, GMC facilitated a connection with Georgia Environmental 

Protection Division (EPD) Grants Unit and Georgia Environmental Finance Authority (GEFA) 

to pursue eligible funds from the Sewer Overflow and Stormwater Reuse Municipal Grants 

Program (also known as the Overflow and Stormwater Grant or OSG). The final request was 

a $1.65M grant to cover a majority of the estimated construction costs. OSG funds come from 

the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and are administered by GEFA, so each agency 

brings special requirements and coordination than if the project was funded solely through 

SPLOST. GMC has recently completed assistance to update the engineering plans and contract 

documents to follow the U.S. EPA and GEFA grant requirements, and supported the City with 

bid assistance for the project. The additional services requested under this amendment are 

described in blue in the sections below.  

 

UNDER AGREEMENT DATED: June 20, 2019 

 

 

The City hereby authorizes Engineer for performance of the following scope of work: 

 

1. WORK TO BE PERFORMED: 

Original: Engineering services related to drainage improvements along Albany Street from 

F to G Streets. Project description and background information from Stormwater 

Masterplan is included as an attachment to this Work Order. 

 

A portion of our approach will be similar to the Stormwater Masterplan recommendation 

with the addition of new inlets and larger pipes between F and G Streets to facilitate 

drainage and improve accessibility for maintenance. There are a few gaps in the GIS 

information along H Street and unknown drainage infrastructure dimensions, so additional 

study is needed for this project. There is a small possibility that the project may need to be 

extended beyond Albany from F to G Streets if the main trunk along H Street does not have 

the capacity to adequately drain the proposed stormwater infrastructure upgrades.  
 

In reviewing the 1-foot contour data from Glynn County, the block from F to G Streets is 

in a “bowl,” and based on your comment that “this is one of the first areas to flood during 

a rainfall event,” we feel that it would be beneficial to add green infrastructure practices to 

intercept and infiltrate stormwater runoff from the frequent, high-intensity events that 

regularly cause flooding at this location. The exact type of green infrastructure techniques 

will be dependent upon the depth to water table, underlying soil permeability, and location 

of utilities. These factors will be determined through a field survey and hand auger soil 

borings.  



2 
 

One potential green infrastructure technique for this site is an infiltration trench in the 

median greenspace between the travel lanes and extending it within the space between the 

oak trees as to not disturb their roots. An infiltration trench is filled with uniformly-sized 

aggregate (e.g., gravel) to provide storage and potential for infiltration. In some instances, 

subsurface storage can be enhanced with an infiltration chamber, which is a modular unit 

that resembles an HDPE pipe cut in half to maintain a low profile, which is important in 

areas where water tables are shallow. Since surface slopes are currently graded towards the 

curb-and-gutter along the sidewalks, runoff could be directed to these subsurface storage 

systems via the two pipes that drain the inlets on the eastern side of the road and conveys 

flow to the inlets and main pipe on the western side of the road. Both of these lateral 

crossings are in an area that would not disturb tree roots. If this location is not suitable due 

to utilities or other circumstances, we will also investigate placement in the ROW, adjacent 

to the road. The addition of on-site stormwater storage and infiltration will provide relief 

on the receiving stormwater infrastructure that may also be undersized. This could reduce 

the urgency to also upsize the pipes from G to H Streets along Albany Street and along H 

Street from Albany to Norwich Streets. 

 

Amendment #1:  

Upon further investigation, including field assessment, topographic survey, survey of 

stormwater infrastructure, and preliminary modeling of stormwater flows, the outlet pipe 

invert at Albany and H Streets is too high to install the pipes any deeper than they currently 

are, and there is not sufficient depth (or soil cover) at F Street to increase the pipe diameter 

from the current 12-inch diameter pipes. Since the elevations and depths will not allow 

sufficient drainage to reach the target of a 25-year event, we investigated other alternatives 

to meet this design objective. One being to route a portion of stormwater east on G Street 

towards Stonewall Street, where there is a 30” diameter pipe that is about 8 feet deep, while 

keeping some of the flow towards H Street, where there seems to be sufficient capacity in 

the arch pipe along that road. The addition of G Street from Albany Street to Stonewall 

Street is approximately 800 LF. The original segment from F to H Street is approximately 

1,000 LF, while the main portion of the project, with most of the improvements, is 500 LF 

from F to G Streets. The survey requirements for this segment covers an area that is 

approximately 1.6 times longer than the primary portion in the original scope. It also 

includes the complex intersection at MLK Jr. Drive for survey and utility locates, and 

additional stormwater structures needing pipe invert elevations for H&H model 

development, both south towards Gloucester and north towards I Street. 

 

Amendment #2:  

The changes that are described above for Amendment #1, addition of G Street to the 

project, doubles the area needed for H&H modeling and associated preliminary and final 

design plan sheets. There was a slight increase in time for Task #3 and fee increase in Tasks 

#3 to #5 due to the increase in project area. 

 

Amendment #3:  

• Previous Work: The H&H model was updated through Amendment #2 to include 

flow routed down G Street, and it allowed for passage of a larger design event, but 

it still was not reaching the City’s target of the 25-year storm due to low elevations 

at Albany/F Street intersection.  



3 
 

• Proposed Design Approach: In exploring additional possibilities to reach the City’s 

design storm target and reduce flooding at the Albany/F Street intersection, a 

simplified scenario was modeled where the raised median was converted into a 

depressed bioswale where the channel would be used for storage, infiltration, and 

conveyance. Based on initial results, this scenario allows considerably more flow 

through the system and it was more effective (passed a larger design storm) than 

solely upsizing pipes along G Street and Albany Street combined. GMC also 

conducted a preliminary assessment of the soils up to 4 feet deep using a hand 

auger, and it showed sandy and dry soils. Therefore, the swale option seems suitable 

in this area, but additional testing is needed to fully design bioswale depth. 

o The proposed design will be a combination green/gray infrastructure 

solution, so the project could be eligible for grant funding from sources that 

target water quality or resiliency topics. 

• Geotech: Due to the substantial grading of the F to G Street block of Albany Street, 

geotechnical services are required to determine pavement/subbase thickness (via 

pavement cores) and strength (via dynamic cone penetrometer) at four locations. 

Additionally, the geotechnical consultant will hand auger two locations, up to 8 feet 

deep, to determine soil profile and groundwater depth, as well as test infiltration 

rate at one location to aid in the design of the bioswale. 

• H&H Modeling and Design: The proposed drainage solution for Albany Street is 

outside of the original approach in the Stormwater Masterplan where pipes were 

simply upsized and inlets were added. As a result, the model that was developed 

for that scenario will need to be adjusted and modified. The simplified scenario 

showed that the 25-year storm can be passed through a combination of bioswale 

along the F-G Street block of Albany Street and routing flow north to H Street and 

east down G Street, but GMC is proposing to model multiple scenarios to determine 

the most cost-effective approach (e.g., single vs. double pipes along either route, 

and pipe size) to divide flow to the north and east. 

• Fee, General: Based on the changes that are described above for Amendment #3, a 

fee was added to Task #2 for geotechnical testing, and the fee was increased for 

Task #3 & #4 for the additional H&H modeling and bioswale design that will 

accompany this task.  

 

Amendment #4  

Following the review meeting to discuss the 30% plan submittal, the City requested to add 

repaving throughout the whole project area, except the G Street crossing at MLK Jr. Drive. 

It was also discussed to add topographic survey and utility locates for Albany Street from 

G to H Streets, add ADA-compliant pedestrian crossings, and add sidewalk upgrades along 

Albany Street from F to G Streets (on the western side of the street). With the additional 

survey, the engineering plans need to be revised to incorporate the field survey. 

Additionally, the disturbed area now exceeds 1.0 acres, so GMC will need to coordinate 

Land Disturbing Activity (LDA) Permit submission and approval through Georgia EPD. 

Due to the complexity of this project and additional iterations to determine the most 

effective way to provide adequate drainage in this project area, time for additional H&H 

model scenarios was added, including new stormwater inlets along Albany Street from G 

to H Streets. 

 



4 
 

Amendment #5:  The services provided under this amendment are detailed below. 

1. Construction Administration:  

Once the project has been approved by the City, GMC can offer a full suite of construction 

phase services, including site inspections; review and respond to RFIs and shop drawings; 

review and process pay applications and change orders; inspect E&S BMPs and track 

NPDES monitoring submissions by the contractor; and create a set of record drawings. For 

purposes of this proposal, we estimated that the construction timeline will be 270 calendar 

days. Also, if the City is interested in handling some or a portion of these items in-house, 

we provided an hourly, NTE, value for each phase, so we will only bill based on hours 

spent. The total value of the budget limit is $59,500, which is 3.0% of the estimated 

construction cost ($2.0M). Typically, construction administration for roadway/ drainage 

projects similar to this is approximately 3% of the construction cost. 

2. Additional Engineering: 

The Albany Street Drainage Project has had numerous complications in comparison with 

the original conceptual plan for this project from the City’s Stormwater Master Plan due to 

pipe slopes, available cover, and utility conflicts. GMC requests $19,500 to mitigate for 

unforeseen costs.  

 

The overall construction cost estimate for this project was $2,000,000, and from the 

existing contract, the design fee was $125,080, which included $20,630 for survey services, 

$3,500 for geotechnical services, $93,450 for engineering design and technical 

specifications/contract document preparation, and $7,500 for bid assistance. This fee is 

6.3% of the construction cost, which is lower than the industry standard of 7-9% for a 

project of this size. Additionally, this project required a more complex H&H model than 

typical drainage projects as well as multiple iterations. As a result, GMC has incurred costs 

beyond the billing for this project, totaling $19,500. If this is added to the contract to reach 

a breakeven point, the design fee percentage would then be 7.2%. GMC’s actual costs are 

within the typical industry standard, and on the lower end of the range presented above. 

 

2. DATES OF SERVICE: 

The dates of service will be dependent on the construction bid and award. As soon as the 

grant is officially approved and signed, GMC will begin support for construction 

administration assistance, and it will continue throughout the duration of the construction 

project, based on the City’s need. The budget provided is based on a 270-day construction 

schedule, as outlined in the bid forms. 

 

3. COMPENSATION AND PAYMENT: 

The previous charges submitted to the City under this contract for preliminary assessment, 

three approved phases of topographic survey, geotechnical survey, H&H modeling, 

conceptual plans and final plans has been $125,080. While there were some funds listed in 

the original scope for limited construction administration, the City requested GMC to 

provide a full suite of comprehensive services to support the grant reporting. The costs for 

this amendment are outlined in the table below: 

 



5 
 

Task Value Type 

1. Construction Administration 

Detailed by parts in bulleted list below 
$59,500 

Record Drawings are Lump Sum 

and remainder is Hourly, as needed 

2. Additional Engineering $19,500 Lump Sum 

Grand Total $79,000  

 

• Construction Administration: $59,500 

Cost is based on 270-day construction schedule, so items that would increase with a 

longer duration are noted with an asterisk (*). Each service is detailed below if the 

City would prefer to do all or a portion of any of the following in-house.  

o Const. Admin (review of shop drawings and RFIs, substantial completion and 

project closeout) 

▪ $11,250 (hourly) 

o *Const. Admin (regular site inspections (4 hours per week); Davis-Bacon 

interviews) 

▪ $26,500 (hourly) 

o *Const. Admin (review of pay application (9) and change orders (1); complete 

site inspection concurrently) 

▪ $10,500 (hourly) 

o *NPDES Monitoring Oversight (review E&S BMPs and track/review 

contractor submissions for NPDES Monitoring) 

▪ $5,000 (hourly) 

o Record Drawings (drainage structures and roadway elevations) 

▪ $6,250 (lump sum) 

 

 

4. PROJECT MANAGER FOR ENGINEER IS: 

Robert Brown, P.E., Ph.D. 

 

 

5. SPECIAL TERMS: 

None 

 

 

ACCEPTED: 

CITY OF BRUNSWICK       GOODWYN MILLS CAWOOD, LLC 

      

 

BY:_____________________________  BY: _____________________________  

NAME:__________________________  NAME: Ed DiTommaso, AICP, GISP  

TITLE:___________________________ TITLE: VP, Environmental Department  

DATE:___________________________  DATE: June 17, 2024    



SUBJECT: Enterprise Zone Incentive for 1420 Newcastle Street 

COMMISSION AGENDA:   August 7, 2024 Consent Agenda 

PURPOSE: Consider approval of Enterprise Zone Incentives in the CBD Enterprise Zone for 1420 

Newcastle Street. 

HISTORY: The Commission approved Enterprise Zones in the City of Brunswick on November 19, 

2014. Enterprise Zones were established under the “Enterprise Zone Employment Act of 1997” for the 

State of Georgia. This legislation allowed municipalities to name certain areas as “Enterprise Zones” and 

permit incentives for economic development in those zones. Enterprise Zones help create the proper 

economic and social environment to induce the investment of private resources in productive business 

enterprises and service enterprises. 

FACTS AND ISSUES:  Avalon Properties has submitted an Enterprise Zone application for the building 

rehabilitation project located at 1420 Newcastle Street. This location is in the CBD Enterprise Zone. The 

owners are requesting the following incentives for the new businesses & rehabilitation: 

2. Abate Business License Administration Fees for the first year.

3. Abate Sign permit fees.

4. Abate City Property Taxes

BUDGET INFORMATION: Fees are waived for the first year of operation. These fees for this applicant 

total approximately $2,395.00. City Property Tax abatement is for up to 10 years at the discretion of the 

City Commission. The 10-year Property Tax abatement is estimated to start at $1,480.53 annually or 

$10,215.64 over 10 years. 

OPTIONS: 1. Approve the Incentives as presented. 2. Approve an edited schedule of incentives. 3. Do 

not recommend the incentives. 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION ACTION: The Enterprise Zone application has been 

reviewed by the Planning, Development & Codes, Engineering and Finance departments. All departments 

recommend approval of the incentives. The Downtown Development Authority Board of Directors 

reviewed the application at their June 24th meeting and recommended the incentives as applied for. The 

Finance Committee reviewed the application at their July 23rd meeting.  

DEPARTMENT: 

Prepared by: Mathew Hill, DDA; 

ADMINISTRATION 

Approved by: Regina McDuffie, City 

Manager; Date: 7/29/24



 

 

 

 

 

 

Fee Standard Amount

Occupation Taxes 90.00$                     

Building Permit Fees 1,200.00$               

Sign Permit Fees 35.00$                     

Business License Admin 45.00$                     

Planning Dept. Fees 200.00$                   

Fire Dept. Plan Review Fees 750.00$                   

Other FD Fees 75.00$                     

Total Fees 2,395.00$               

Property tax abatement Current value 85,300.00$           

Values are based on estimated New value (est) 280,000.00$        

construction cost & reassesment value New Assd (est) 112,000.00$        

Current City Tax 451.03$            City tax (est) 1,480.53$             

Full benefit savings

Year abated Standard full benefit

1 - 100% -$                   1,480.53$    1,480.53$           

2 - 100% -$                   1,480.53$    1,480.53$           

3 - 100% -$                   1,480.53$    1,480.53$           

4 - 90% 148.05$            1,480.53$    1,332.48$           

5 - 80% 296.11$            1,480.53$    1,184.42$           

6 - 80% 296.11$            1,480.53$    1,184.42$           

7 - 60% 592.21$            1,480.53$    888.32$               

8 - 40% 888.32$            1,480.53$    592.21$               

9 - 20% 1,184.42$        1,480.53$    296.11$               

10 - 20% 1,184.42$        1,480.53$    296.11$               

Total 4,589.64$        14,805.28$  10,215.64$         



City of Brunswick Enterprise Zone Application                                          1 

 

 

 

1.   GENERAL INFORMATION 

Project Name: 

Project Physical Address: Parcel I.D.#: 

City: State: Zip: 

Proposed Type of Business/Service Enterprise: 

□ Manufacturing     □ Warehouse/Distribution     □ Processing     □ Telecommunications 

□ Tourism                □ Research & Development   □ Finance          □ Insurance 

□ Real Estate           □ Retail                                   □ Other (SIC Code): ____________________ 

Local Benefit Type: 

□ Capital Investment/Reinvestment               □ Locate in a vacant or historic building 

□ Demolish an obsolete/abandoned/ deteriorating structure 

□ Enhance Area (landscape/facade improvements, or remove billboards) 

□ Assemblage of multiple tracts 

Applicant Organization/Agency: 

Federal Tax ID Number: SIC Code: 

Type of Organization: 

□ S-Corporation     □ C-Corporation     □ LLC     □ other: ________________________________ 

Public Corporation: 

 □ Yes: incorporated or formed (year): _________          □ No 

Primary Product or Service: 

 

2.   Contact Information 

Primary Business Representative: 

Title: Phone: 

Fax: Email: 

Mailing Address: 

City: State: Zip: 

Local Contact Person: 

Title: Phone: 

Fax: Email: 

Mailing Address: 

City: State: Zip: 

 

CITY OF BRUNSWICK 
ENTERPRISE ZONE APPLICATION 

1420 Newcastle

1420 Newcastle St.
Brunswick GA 31520

Avalon Properties Group
26-4777080

Real Estate- Residential and Commercial

Thomas (Tom) E. McBride
Owner

3410 cypress Mill Rd, Suite 100

Brunswick GA 31520
Same



City of Brunswick Enterprise Zone Application                                          2 

 

3.   Project Description 

Provide a description of the company's plans, including projected capital investment of the business 

in the zone for a 10-year project designation period (expansion, consolidation, relocation, etc. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.   Project Capital Investment: 

(To be made in the Enterprise Zone over a 10-year period) 

Land: $ 

Buildings: $ 

Manufacturing Machinery: $ 

Other Machinery and Equipment: $ 

Other: $ 

Total: $ 

 

5.   Business Description 

Provide an introduction, history, and description of the qualified business, its products, services, 

total sales, number of employees, locations (international, national, and in Georgia), description of 

primary materials purchased, product transportation, etc.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Renovate / restore commericla office in the heart of Brunswicks Historic District. The building has
suffered from neglect. It needs a new roof, new A/C's, interior needs to be demod and rebuilt. It will
be a real estate office and company headquarters. The company is in a growth mode and expects
 to add office personnel and sales representatives.

200,000.00

200,000.00

Avalon Properties Group is a locally owned and operated full service real estate brokerage. 
Currently employs 11 people.



City of Brunswick Enterprise Zone Application                                          3 

 

6.   Local Significance 

Explain specifically how the project will benefit Brunswick residents and attach any additional 

information 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Avalon Properties Group is focused on helping local residents purchase their first home,
investors acquire residential & commercial property, help homeowners and business owners
divest their real estate.



City of Brunswick Enterprise Zone Application                                          4 

 

 

7.   Job Creation (Required for City Property Tax Abatement) 

(Projected for 10-year Tax Abatement Period) 

The City Commission will determine the Tax Abatement Schedule, if any. 

The business making the investment and paying taxes must also create the jobs and be the project 

designee.  In order to be eligible for incentives, eligible businesses must: 
* Increase employment by five or more new full-time jobs; 

*  Maintain the jobs for the duration of the tax exemption period; 

* Whenever possible, at least 10% of the new employees filling the jobs that satisfy the job creation 

requirement should be low or moderate income individuals. 

Note: Leased, contract, temporary, and construction employees do not qualify as new employees. 

Number of New Full-Time Jobs to be Created (5 Minimum): 

Number of Low/Moderate Income People Hired (10%): 
A Low/Moderate Income Individual is Defined in (A-H), In Which Category(ies) Your New Employees Qualify? 

(Select all that apply):  

□ (A) Unemployed or unemployed for three of the six months prior to the date of hire;  

□ (B) Homeless;  

□ (C) A resident of public housing;  

□ (D) Receiving temporary assistance for needy families or who has received temporary assistance for needy 

families at any time during the 18 months previous to the date of hire;  

□  (E) A participant in the Workforce Investment Act or who has participated in the Workforce Investment 

Act at any time during the 18 months previous to the date of hire;  

□ (F) A participant in a job opportunity where basic skills are required or who has participated in such a job 

opportunity at any time during the 18 months previous to the date of hire;  

□ (G) Receiving supplemental social security income; or  

□ (H) Receiving food stamps. 

Number of Local Residents Hired: 

Estimated Amount of Payroll for YR________: $ 

 

8.   New Jobs Breakdown (4 YR Period Example) 

Job Title 
Annual Salary 

or Hourly Rate 

Total Jobs 

Year 1 

Total Jobs 

Year 2 

Total Jobs 

Year 3 

Total Jobs 

Year 4 

1      

2      

3      

4      

5      

6      

7      

8      

Annual Grand Total     

  

26
3

26
900,0002028

Real Estate 35,000 6 6 6 6
Sales Consultant 19,000 1
Assoc. Broker 50,000 1

6 6 7 7



City of Brunswick Enterprise Zone Application                                          5 

 

9.   Financing Plan 

Describe or attach the project financing plan.  Submit supporting documentation if applicable (i.e. 

bank commitment letters, balance sheets, and profit and loss statements). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10.   Additional Incentives Requested 

Other incentives that may be granted will be negotiated on a case-by-case basis by the City 

Commission and could include exemption from any or all of the following: 

□ Building Permit fees      □ Sign Permit fees        □ Business License Admin fees  

□ Occupation taxes            □ Rezoning fees            □ Engineering fees       
________________ 

 

11.   Project Timeline 

Construction Start Date:  

Construction Completion Date:  

Operation Start Date:  

Date Begin Hiring New Employees:  

Date Purchase of Machinery/Equipment:  

Date Other Improvements like Landscaping or Façade Material 

will be Incorporated: 

 

Tax Abatement Start Date (NLT Completion). Attach Plat with 

Identified Phases (if applicable): 

 

  

Prime South, a local bank, will be doing the renovation financing. Joe Riccio is the contact.
ELM Construction will be doing tthe renovation (bid attached)

May, 2024
August, 2024
August, 2024
August, 2024
August, 2024

July, 2024

Nov. 2024



City of Brunswick Enterprise Zone Application 6 

12. Application Checklist

Complete Incomplete If Complete, 

Initial and Attach 

Completed Application □ □ 

Financial Supporting documentation (if 

applicable), for example bank commitment 

letters, appraisal report, profit & loss statement. 
□ □

 

Three years of financials must include income 

statements/balance sheets. □ □ 

Copy of the Brunswick Business License or 

application and Evidence of property access, 

i.e., copy of warranty deed or executed lease

agreement.

□ □ 

 

Site Plan Drawing. Include Proposed Landscap-

ing Areas, if needed. □ □ 

Project Timeline □ □  

13. Approval Process

Once the application is received, it will be reviewed for completeness. Complete applications follow 

two approval paths detailed below: 

Project in the DDA District Project outside the DDA District 

DDA staff reviews application for 

completeness 

Economic Development staff reviews 

application for completeness. 

DDA Board of Directors reviews application 

and makes recommendation (board may 

recommend full or partial incentive award) 

DDA board meets the second Thursday of the 

month. 

Finance Committee reviews application and 

makes recommendation (committee may 

recommend full or partial incentive award) 

Finance Committee meets the last Monday of 

the month 

Finance Committee reviews application and 

makes recommendation (committee may 

recommend full or partial incentive award) 

Finance Committee meets the last Monday of 

the month 

City Commission reviews application and 

awards incentives. The commission may make 

changes to any recommended award schedule. 

City Commission meets the first & third 

Wednesday of the month. 

City Commission reviews application and 

awards incentives. The commission may make 

changes to any recommended award schedule. 

City Commission meets the first & third 

Wednesday of the month. 

X

X

X

X

X

X

Bank review
in process

Deed attached

Plans included

in application





Brunswick Finance - 1420 Newcastle, will be Avalon Properties Group Office
Blue Cottage - 1422 Newcastle, will be retail store with tenant



ROOM 1
43'-2" X 18'-6"

ROOM 3
9'-7" X 8'-0"

ROOM 2
16'-3" X 6'-6"

BATH
6'-3" X 8'-0"

ROOM 4
27'-7" X 18'-6"

ELECTRICAL PANEL

DW

W
/D

3'0
"x

6'8
"

WAITING AREA
16'-0" X 10'-0"

BREAK ROOM
8'-0" X 10'-6"

CONFERENCE
14'-0" X 14'-6"

BROKER
8'-0" X 10'-0"

OPEN AREA
16'-0" X 8'-6"

FLEX SPACE
8'-0" X 10'-0" BATH

9'-6" X 6'-0"
BEDROOM

11'-0" X 10'-0"

LIVING AREA
17'-0" X 9'-0"

KITCHEN
16'-6" X 7'-0"

ENCLOSE DOOR AND
MAKE WALL FIRE RATED

RECEPTION

REMOVE PLATFORMS

REMOVE EXISTING
WALLS

RESTROOM
7'-6" X 8'-0"

CLOSET
4'-0" X 5'-0"

ELECTRICAL PANEL

PANTRY
4'-6" X 5'-6"

MECH
3'-6" X 5'-6"3'0

"x
6'8

"

2'8"x6'8"

2'8"x6'8"

2'8"x6'8"

2'8
"x

6'8
"

2'8
"x

6'8
"

2'8"x6'8"

2'8
"x

6'8
"2'8"x6'8"

2'8"x6'8"

MABA 
COLLECTIVE 

1/
4"

=1
'-0

"
M

cB
rid

e
14

20
 N

ew
ca

st
le

 S
tr

ee
t,

B
ru

ns
w

ic
k,

 G
A

 3
15

20

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOORPLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED FLOORPLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS AND 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIMENSIONS-NOTIFI ARCHITECT

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF ANY DISCREPANCIES PRIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO BEGINNING CONTRUCTIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOORPLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
A2

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMERCIAL PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text
05-07-24

















SUBJECT: Enterprise Zone Incentive for 1617 Norwich Street 

COMMISSION AGENDA:   August 7, 2024 Consent Agenda 

PURPOSE: Consider approval of Enterprise Zone Incentives in the Norwich Enterprise Zone for 1617 

Norwich Street. 

HISTORY: The Commission approved Enterprise Zones in the City of Brunswick on November 19, 

2014. Enterprise Zones were established under the “Enterprise Zone Employment Act of 1997” for the 

State of Georgia. This legislation allowed municipalities to name certain areas as “Enterprise Zones” and 

permit incentives for economic development in those zones. Enterprise Zones help create the proper 

economic and social environment to induce the investment of private resources in productive business 

enterprises and service enterprises. 

FACTS AND ISSUES:  La Playa, LLC has submitted an Enterprise Zone application for the building 

rehabilitation project located at 1617 Norwich Street. This location is in the Norwich Enterprise Zone. 

The owners are requesting the following incentives for the new businesses & rehabilitation: 

2. Abate Business License Administration Fees for the first year.

3. Abate Sign permit fees.

4. Abate City Property Taxes

BUDGET INFORMATION: Fees are waived for the first year of operation. These fees for this applicant 

total approximately $2,395.00. City Property Tax abatement is for up to 10 years at the discretion of the 

City Commission. The 10-year Property Tax abatement is estimated to start at $2,165.80 annually or 

$14,944.03 over 10 years. 

OPTIONS: 1. Approve the Incentives as presented. 2. Approve an edited schedule of incentives. 3. Do 

not recommend the incentives. 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION ACTION: The Enterprise Zone application has been 

reviewed by the Planning, Development & Codes, Engineering and Finance departments. All departments 

recommend approval of the incentives. The Downtown Development Authority Board of Directors 

reviewed the application at their June 24th meeting and recommended the incentives as applied for. The 

Finance Committee reviewed the application at their July 23rd meeting.  

DEPARTMENT: 

Prepared by: Mathew Hill, DDA; 

ADMINISTRATION 

Approved by: Regina McDuffie, City 

Manager; Date: 7/31/24



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fee Standard Amount

Occupation Taxes 90.00$                     

Building Permit Fees 1,200.00$               

Sign Permit Fees 35.00$                     

Business License Admin 45.00$                     

Planning Dept. Fees 200.00$                   

Fire Dept. Plan Review Fees 750.00$                   

Other FD Fees 75.00$                     

Total Fees 2,395.00$               

Property tax abatement Current value 109,600.00$        

Values are based on estimated New value (est) 409,600.00$        

construction cost & reassesment value New Assd (est) 163,840.00$        

Current City Tax 579.52$            City tax (est) 2,165.80$             

Full benefit savings

Year abated Standard full benefit

1 - 100% -$                   2,165.80$    2,165.80$           

2 - 100% -$                   2,165.80$    2,165.80$           

3 - 100% -$                   2,165.80$    2,165.80$           

4 - 90% 216.58$            2,165.80$    1,949.22$           

5 - 80% 433.16$            2,165.80$    1,732.64$           

6 - 80% 433.16$            2,165.80$    1,732.64$           

7 - 60% 866.32$            2,165.80$    1,299.48$           

8 - 40% 1,299.48$        2,165.80$    866.32$               

9 - 20% 1,732.64$        2,165.80$    433.16$               

10 - 20% 1,732.64$        2,165.80$    433.16$               

Total 6,713.98$        21,658.01$  14,944.03$         



City of Brunswick Enterprise Zone Application                                          1 

 

 

 

1.   GENERAL INFORMATION 

Project Name: 

Project Physical Address: Parcel I.D.#: 

City: State: Zip: 

Proposed Type of Business/Service Enterprise: 

□ Manufacturing     □ Warehouse/Distribution     □ Processing     □ Telecommunications 

□ Tourism                □ Research & Development   □ Finance          □ Insurance 

□ Real Estate           □ Retail                                   □ Other (SIC Code): ____________________ 

Local Benefit Type: 

□ Capital Investment/Reinvestment               □ Locate in a vacant or historic building 

□ Demolish an obsolete/abandoned/ deteriorating structure 

□ Enhance Area (landscape/facade improvements, or remove billboards) 

□ Assemblage of multiple tracts 

Applicant Organization/Agency: 

Federal Tax ID Number: SIC Code: 

Type of Organization: 

□ S-Corporation     □ C-Corporation     □ LLC     □ other: ________________________________ 

Public Corporation: 

 □ Yes: incorporated or formed (year): _________          □ No 

Primary Product or Service: 

 

2.   Contact Information 

Primary Business Representative: 

Title: Phone: 

Fax: Email: 

Mailing Address: 

City: State: Zip: 

Local Contact Person: 

Title: Phone: 

Fax: Email: 

Mailing Address: 

City: State: Zip: 

 

CITY OF BRUNSWICK 
ENTERPRISE ZONE APPLICATION 

Norwich Food Truck Park
1617 Norwich St

Brunswick GA 31520

La Playa, LLC

99-1515082

Hospitality

Meredith Grill

CEO 706-816-6352

meredithgrill26@gmail.com

1606 Norwich St

Brunswick GA 31520

Same



City of Brunswick Enterprise Zone Application                                          2 

 

3.   Project Description 

Provide a description of the company's plans, including projected capital investment of the business 

in the zone for a 10-year project designation period (expansion, consolidation, relocation, etc. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.   Project Capital Investment: 

(To be made in the Enterprise Zone over a 10-year period) 

Land: $ 

Buildings: $ 

Manufacturing Machinery: $ 

Other Machinery and Equipment: $ 

Other: $ 

Total: $ 

 

5.   Business Description 

Provide an introduction, history, and description of the qualified business, its products, services, 

total sales, number of employees, locations (international, national, and in Georgia), description of 

primary materials purchased, product transportation, etc.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1-2 months: Purchase property, relocation begins, construction/renovation starts.
2-4 months: Comissary kitchen assembly, new indoor/outdoor fixtures.
4-8 months: landscaping, markeing, preparing for launch date.

2025: Grand opening    $500,000 sales goal for 1st year.

Cultivating Community & encouraging diversity in a shared space to promote local businesses
& residents. Open at least 4 days a week with about 5-10 food trucks offered daily with
bar & market.

(business plan attached)

200,000.00
300,000.00

500,000.00

La Playa, LLC est. 2024 is a branch off of Square One on the Run LLC (est. 2023). Meredith
Grill partnered with joe Cascio to purchase & run a mobile kitchen catering business based
in Georgia. We have around 10 part time employees and offer catering and rental services.
We own 3 food trailers and have yearly gross sales of $100,000.



City of Brunswick Enterprise Zone Application                                          3 

 

6.   Local Significance 

Explain specifically how the project will benefit Brunswick residents and attach any additional 

information 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Renovating 1617 Norwich st. into a food truck park / local market / bar / comissary kitchen
will give Norwich St. the community presence & foot traffic it has been lacking. This will
bring visitors from the islands and local community to partake in another food and event
venue in downtown Brunswick. Renovating this dilapidated building will also improve the
security and landscap of Norwich St. while providing jobs and support for local
business people.



City of Brunswick Enterprise Zone Application                                          4 

 

 

7.   Job Creation (Required for City Property Tax Abatement) 

(Projected for 10-year Tax Abatement Period) 

The City Commission will determine the Tax Abatement Schedule, if any. 

The business making the investment and paying taxes must also create the jobs and be the project 

designee.  In order to be eligible for incentives, eligible businesses must: 
* Increase employment by five or more new full-time jobs; 

*  Maintain the jobs for the duration of the tax exemption period; 

* Whenever possible, at least 10% of the new employees filling the jobs that satisfy the job creation 

requirement should be low or moderate income individuals. 

Note: Leased, contract, temporary, and construction employees do not qualify as new employees. 

Number of New Full-Time Jobs to be Created (5 Minimum): 

Number of Low/Moderate Income People Hired (10%): 
A Low/Moderate Income Individual is Defined in (A-H), In Which Category(ies) Your New Employees Qualify? 

(Select all that apply):  

□ (A) Unemployed or unemployed for three of the six months prior to the date of hire;  

□ (B) Homeless;  

□ (C) A resident of public housing;  

□ (D) Receiving temporary assistance for needy families or who has received temporary assistance for needy 

families at any time during the 18 months previous to the date of hire;  

□  (E) A participant in the Workforce Investment Act or who has participated in the Workforce Investment 

Act at any time during the 18 months previous to the date of hire;  

□ (F) A participant in a job opportunity where basic skills are required or who has participated in such a job 

opportunity at any time during the 18 months previous to the date of hire;  

□ (G) Receiving supplemental social security income; or  

□ (H) Receiving food stamps. 

Number of Local Residents Hired: 

Estimated Amount of Payroll for YR________: $ 

 

8.   New Jobs Breakdown (4 YR Period Example) 

Job Title 
Annual Salary 

or Hourly Rate 

Total Jobs 

Year 1 

Total Jobs 

Year 2 

Total Jobs 

Year 3 

Total Jobs 

Year 4 

1      

2      

3      

4      

5      

6      

7      

8      

Annual Grand Total     

  

5-10
2-5

10-20
600,000

Cooks $12 - $20/hr 4 6 8 10
2 2 21$20/hrSecurity

Cleaners

Bartenders

$20/hr 2 3 4 5
$20/hr 2 3 4Maintenance 5
$6/hr + tips 2 4 4 4

11 18 22 26



City of Brunswick Enterprise Zone Application                                          5 

 

9.   Financing Plan 

Describe or attach the project financing plan.  Submit supporting documentation if applicable (i.e. 

bank commitment letters, balance sheets, and profit and loss statements). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10.   Additional Incentives Requested 

Other incentives that may be granted will be negotiated on a case-by-case basis by the City 

Commission and could include exemption from any or all of the following: 

□ Building Permit fees      □ Sign Permit fees        □ Business License Admin fees  

□ Occupation taxes            □ Rezoning fees            □ Engineering fees       
________________ 

 

11.   Project Timeline 

Construction Start Date:  

Construction Completion Date:  

Operation Start Date:  

Date Begin Hiring New Employees:  

Date Purchase of Machinery/Equipment:  

Date Other Improvements like Landscaping or Façade Material 

will be Incorporated: 

 

Tax Abatement Start Date (NLT Completion). Attach Plat with 

Identified Phases (if applicable): 

 

  

We currently hav an SBA loan for $450,000 at 3.75%. We are hoping to receive a loan from the
city (DDRLF) at a lower interest and/or grants in addition to these funds.

August, 2024
December, 2024
Jan 1, 2025
December, 2024

August, 2024

August, 2024



City of Brunswick Enterprise Zone Application                                          6 

 

 

12.   Application Checklist 

 Complete Incomplete If Complete, 

Initial and Attach 

Completed Application □ □  

Financial Supporting documentation (if 

applicable), for example bank commitment 

letters, appraisal report, profit & loss statement. 
□ □ 

 

Three years of financials must include income 

statements/balance sheets. □ □ 
 

Copy of the Brunswick Business License or 

application and Evidence of property access, 

i.e., copy of warranty deed or executed lease 

agreement. 

□ □ 

 

Site Plan Drawing. Include Proposed Landscap-

ing Areas, if needed. □ □ 
 

Project Timeline □ □  

 

13.   Approval Process 

Once the application is received, it will be reviewed for completeness. Complete applications follow 

two approval paths detailed below: 

Project in the DDA District Project outside the DDA District 

DDA staff reviews application for 

completeness 

Economic Development staff reviews 

application for completeness. 

DDA Board of Directors reviews application 

and makes recommendation (board may 

recommend full or partial incentive award) 

DDA board meets the second Thursday of the 

month. 

Finance Committee reviews application and 

makes recommendation (committee may 

recommend full or partial incentive award) 

Finance Committee meets the last Monday of 

the month 

Finance Committee reviews application and 

makes recommendation (committee may 

recommend full or partial incentive award) 

Finance Committee meets the last Monday of 

the month 

City Commission reviews application and 

awards incentives. The commission may make 

changes to any recommended award schedule. 

City Commission meets the first & third 

Wednesday of the month. 

City Commission reviews application and 

awards incentives. The commission may make 

changes to any recommended award schedule. 

City Commission meets the first & third 

Wednesday of the month. 

 

 

 

  

Type text here

X

X

X

X

X

X



































































800.277.0080 • www.mjcpa.com 
Members of The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
July 9, 2024 

 
 
Honorable Mayor and Members of the 
City Commission 
City of Brunswick, Georgia 
601 Gloucester Street, City Hall 
Brunswick, Georgia 31520 
 
Attn:  Regina M. McDuffie, City Manager 
 
We are pleased to confirm our understanding of the services we are to provide the City of 
Brunswick, Georgia (the City) for the year ended June 30, 2024.   
 
Audit Scope and Objectives 
We will audit the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information, including the disclosures, which collectively comprise the basic financial statements, 
of the City of Brunswick, Georgia as of and for the year then ended.  Accounting standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) provide for certain required 
supplementary information (RSI), such as management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A), to 
supplement the City’s basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the 
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements 
in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  As part of our engagement, we will 
apply certain limited procedures to the City’s RSI in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAS).  These limited procedures will consist of 
inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  
We will not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance.  The following RSI is required by GAAP and will be subjected to certain limited 
procedures, but will not be audited: 
 

1. Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). 
2. Budgetary Comparison Schedules for the General Fund and Major Special Revenue Fund(s) 
3. Schedule of Changes in the City’s Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios – Defined 

Benefit Plan 
4. Schedule of City Contributions – Defined Benefit Plan.  



City of Brunswick, Georgia - 2024 Engagement Letter 
July 9, 2024 

Page 2 
 

5. Schedule of Investment Returns – Defined Benefit Plan.  
 

We have also been engaged to report on supplementary information other than RSI that 
accompanies the City’s financial statements.  We will subject the following supplementary 
information to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS and will provide 
an opinion on it in relation to the financial statements as a whole in a report combined with our 
auditor’s report on the financial statements: 
 

1. Schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 
2. Schedule of Expenditures of Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax Proceeds.  
3. Certification of E-911 Expenditures 
4. Combining and individual fund statements and schedules. 

 
In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, we will read the following other 
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information 
and the basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.  If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material 
misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report: 
 
 1. Introductory section  

2. Statistical section  
 
The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinions about whether your financial statements are fairly 
presented, in all material respects, in conformity with GAAP, and report on the fairness of the 
supplementary information referred to in the second paragraph when considered in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists.  Misstatements, including omissions, can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would 
influence the judgment of a reasonable user made based on the financial statements.  The objectives 
also include reporting on -  
 

• Internal control over financial reporting and compliance with provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts and award agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
material effect on the financial statements in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards.  
 

• Internal control over compliance related to major programs and an opinion (or disclaimer 
of opinion) on compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions 
of federal awards that could have a direct and material effect on each major program in 
accordance with the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 and Title 2 U.S. Code of 



City of Brunswick, Georgia - 2024 Engagement Letter 
July 9, 2024 

Page 3 
 

Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements and Single Audit 
We will conduct our audit in accordance with GAAS; the standards for financial audits contained 
in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; the 
Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996; and the provisions of the Uniform Guidance, and will 
include tests of accounting records, a determination of major program(s) in accordance with the 
Uniform Guidance, and other procedures we consider necessary to enable us to express such 
opinions.  As part of an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we 
will exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  
 
We will evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management.  We will also evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and determine whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  We will plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether from (1) errors, (2) fraudulent 
financial reporting, (3) misappropriation of assets, or (4) violations of laws or governmental 
regulations that are attributable to the government or to acts by management or employees acting 
on behalf of the government. Because the determination of waste and abuse is subjective, 
Government Auditing Standards do not expect auditors to perform specific procedures to detect 
waste or abuse in financial audits nor do they expect auditors to provide reasonable assurance of 
detecting waste or abuse. 
 
Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, combined with the inherent limitations of internal 
control, and because we will not perform a detailed examination of all transactions, there is an 
unavoidable risk that some material misstatements or noncompliance may not be detected by us, 
even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with GAAS and 
Government Auditing Standards.  In addition, an audit is not designed to detect immaterial 
misstatements or violations of laws or governmental regulations that do not have a direct and 
material effect on the financial statements or on major programs.  However, we will inform the 
appropriate level of management of any material errors, any fraudulent financial reporting or 
misappropriation of assets that come to our attention.  We will also inform the appropriate level of 
management of any violations of laws or governmental regulations that come to our attention, 
unless clearly inconsequential.  We will include such matters in the reports required for a Single 
Audit.  Our responsibility as auditors is limited to the period covered by our audit and does not 
extend to any later periods for which we are not engaged as auditors. 
 
We will also conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the government’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 
 
Our procedures will include tests of documentary evidence supporting the transactions recorded 
in the accounts, tests of the physical existence of inventories, and direct confirmation of receivables 
and certain other assets and liabilities by correspondence with selected individuals, funding 



City of Brunswick, Georgia - 2024 Engagement Letter 
July 9, 2024 

Page 4 
 
sources, creditors, and financial institutions.  We will request written representations from your 
attorneys as part of the engagement, and they may bill you for responding to this inquiry.  
 
According to GAAS, significant risks include the risk of management’s override of internal 
controls.  Accordingly, we have considered this item as a significant risk.  
 
We may, from time to time and depending on the circumstances, use third-party service providers 
in serving your account.  We may share confidential information about you with these service 
providers but remain committed to maintaining the confidentiality and security of your 
information.  Accordingly, we maintain internal policies, procedures, and safeguards to protect the 
confidentiality of your personal information.  In addition, we will secure confidentiality 
agreements with all service providers to maintain the confidentiality of your information and we 
will take reasonable precautions to determine that they have appropriate procedures in place to 
prevent the unauthorized release of your confidential information to others.  In the event that we 
are unable to secure an appropriate confidentiality agreement, you will be asked to provide your 
consent prior to the sharing of your confidential information with the third-party service provider.  
Furthermore, we will remain responsible for the work provided by any such third-party service 
providers. 
 
Our audit of financial statements does not relieve you of your responsibilities. 
 
Audit Procedures—Internal Control 
We will obtain an understanding of the government and its environment, including the system of 
internal control, sufficient to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and to design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks and obtain evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinions.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentation, or the override of internal control.  Tests of controls may be performed to test 
the effectiveness of certain controls that we consider relevant to preventing and detecting errors 
and fraud that are material to the financial statements and to preventing and detecting 
misstatements resulting from illegal acts and other noncompliance matters that have a direct and 
material effect on the financial statements.  Our tests, if performed, will be less in scope than would 
be necessary to render an opinion on internal control and, accordingly, no opinion will be 
expressed in our report on internal control issued pursuant to Government Auditing Standards. 
 
As required by the Uniform Guidance, we will perform tests of controls over compliance to 
evaluate the effectiveness of the design and operation of controls that we consider relevant to 
preventing or detecting material noncompliance with compliance requirements applicable to each 
major federal award program.  However, our tests will be less in scope than would be necessary to 
render an opinion on those controls and, accordingly, no opinion will be expressed in our report 
on internal control issued pursuant to the Uniform Guidance.  
 
An audit is not designed to provide assurance on internal control or to identify significant 
deficiencies or material weaknesses.  Accordingly, we will express no such opinion.  However, 
during the audit, we will communicate to management and those charged with governance internal 



City of Brunswick, Georgia - 2024 Engagement Letter 
July 9, 2024 

Page 5 
 
control related matters that are required to be communicated under AICPA professional standards, 
Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance.  
 
Audit Procedures—Compliance 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we will perform tests of the City’s compliance with provisions of applicable 
laws, regulations, contracts and agreements, including grant agreements.  However, the objective 
of those procedures will not be to provide an opinion on overall compliance and we will not express 
such an opinion in our report on compliance issued pursuant to Government Auditing Standards. 
 
The Uniform Guidance requires that we also plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the auditee has complied with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms 
and conditions of federal awards applicable to major programs.  Our procedures will consist of 
tests of transactions and other applicable procedures described in the OMB Compliance 
Supplement for the types of compliance requirements that could have a direct and material effect 
on each of the City’s major programs.  For federal programs that are included in the Compliance 
Supplement, our compliance and internal control procedures will relate to the compliance 
requirements that the Compliance Supplement identifies as being subject to audit.  The purpose of 
these procedures will be to express an opinion on the City’s compliance with requirements 
applicable to each of its major programs in our report on compliance issued pursuant to the 
Uniform Guidance.  
 
Other Services 
We will also assist in preparing the financial statements, schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards, and related notes of the City in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles and the Uniform Guidance based on information provided by you.  These nonaudit 
services do not constitute an audit under Government Auditing Standards and such services will 
not be conducted in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.  We will perform these 
services in accordance with applicable professional standards.  The other services are limited to 
the financial statements, schedule of expenditures of federal awards, and related notes services 
previously defined.  We, in our sole professional judgement, reserve the right to refuse to perform 
any procedure or take any action that could be construed as assuming management responsibilities.  
 
You agree to assume all management responsibilities relating to the financial statements, schedule 
of expenditures of federal awards, related notes, and any other nonaudit services we provide. You 
will be required to acknowledge in the management representation letter our assistance with 
preparation of the financial statements, schedule of expenditures of federal awards, and related 
notes and that you have reviewed and approved the financial statements, schedule of expenditures 
of federal awards, and related notes prior to their issuance and have accepted responsibility for 
them.  Further, you agree to oversee the nonaudit services by designating an individual, preferably 
from senior management, who possesses suitable skill, knowledge, or experience; evaluate the 
adequacy and results of those services; and accept responsibility for them.   
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements and Single Audit 
Our audit will be conducted on the basis that you acknowledge and understand your responsibility 
for (1) designing, implementing, establishing, and maintaining effective internal controls relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 



City of Brunswick, Georgia - 2024 Engagement Letter 
July 9, 2024 

Page 6 
 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, including internal controls over federal awards, and 
for evaluating and monitoring ongoing activities, to help ensure that appropriate goals and 
objectives are met; (2) following laws and regulations; (3) ensuring that there is reasonable 
assurance that government programs are administered in compliance with compliance 
requirements; and (4) ensuring that management and financial information is reliable and properly 
reported.  Management is also responsible for implementing systems designed to achieve 
compliance with applicable laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements.  You are also 
responsible for the selection and application of accounting principles; for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements, schedule of expenditures of federal awards, and all 
accompanying information in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America; and for compliance with applicable laws and regulations (including 
federal statutes) and the provisions of contracts and grant agreements (including award 
agreements).  Your responsibilities also include identifying significant contractor relationships in 
which the contractor has responsibility for program compliance and for the accuracy and 
completeness of that information. 
 
You are also responsible for making drafts of financial statements, schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards, all financial records and related information available to us and for the accuracy 
and completeness of that information (including information from outside of the general and 
subsidiary ledgers).  You are also responsible for providing us with (1) access to all information 
of which you are aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements, such as records, documentation, identification of all related parties and all related-party 
relationships and transactions, and other matters (2) access to personnel, accounts, books, records, 
supporting documentation, and other information as needed to perform an audit under the Uniform 
Guidance, (3) additional information that we may request for the purpose of the audit, and (4) 
unrestricted access to persons within the government from whom we determine it necessary to 
obtain audit evidence. At the conclusion of our audit, we will require certain written 
representations from you about the financial statements; schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards; federal award programs; compliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements; and related matters. 
 
Your responsibilities include adjusting the financial statements to correct material misstatements 
and confirming to us in the management representation letter that the effects of any uncorrected 
misstatements aggregated by us during the current engagement and pertaining to the latest period 
presented are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements of each 
opinion unit taken as a whole. 
 
You are responsible for the design and implementation of programs and controls to prevent and 
detect fraud, and for informing us about all known or suspected fraud affecting the government 
involving (1) management, (2) employees who have significant roles in internal control, and (3) 
others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. Your 
responsibilities include informing us of your knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected 
fraud affecting the government received in communications from employees, former employees, 
grantors, regulators, or others.  In addition, you are responsible for identifying and ensuring that 
the government complies with applicable laws, regulations, contracts, agreements, and grants. You 
are also responsible for taking timely and appropriate steps to remedy fraud and noncompliance 
with provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements that we report.  Additionally, 



City of Brunswick, Georgia - 2024 Engagement Letter 
July 9, 2024 

Page 7 
 
as required by the Uniform Guidance, it is management's responsibility to evaluate and monitor 
noncompliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of federal awards; 
take prompt action when instances of noncompliance are identified including noncompliance 
identified in audit findings; promptly follow up and take corrective action on reported audit 
findings; and to prepare a summary schedule of prior audit findings and a separate corrective action 
plan. The summary schedule of prior audit findings should be available for our review subsequent 
to the start of fieldwork. 
 
You are responsible for identifying all federal awards received and understanding and complying 
with the compliance requirements and for the preparation of the schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards (including notes and noncash assistance received, and COVID-19 related concepts, such 
as lost revenues, if applicable) in conformity with the Uniform Guidance.  You agree to include 
our report on the schedule of expenditures of federal awards in any document that contains and 
indicates that we have reported on the schedule of expenditures of federal awards.   You also agree 
to include the audited financial statements with any presentation of the schedule of expenditures 
of federal awards that includes our report thereon or make the audited financial statements readily 
available to intended users of the schedule of expenditures of federal awards no later than the date 
the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is issued with our report thereon.  Your 
responsibilities include acknowledging to us in the written representation letter that (1) you are 
responsible for presentation of the schedule of expenditures of federal awards in accordance with 
the Uniform Guidance; (2) you believe the schedule of expenditures of federal awards, including 
its form and content, is stated fairly in accordance with the Uniform Guidance; (3) the methods of 
measurement or presentation have not changed from those used in the prior period (or, if they have 
changed, the reasons for such changes); and (4) you have disclosed to us any significant 
assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement or presentation of the schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards. 
 
You are also responsible for the preparation of the other supplementary information, which we 
have been engaged to report on, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  
You agree to include our report on the supplementary information in any document that contains 
and indicates that we have reported on the supplementary information.  You also agree to include 
the audited financial statements with any presentation of the supplementary information that 
includes our report thereon or make the audited financial statements readily available to users of 
the supplementary information no later than the date the supplementary information is issued with 
our report thereon. Your responsibilities include acknowledging to us in the written representation 
letter that (1) you are responsible for presentation of the supplementary information in accordance 
with GAAP; (2) you believe the supplementary information, including its form and content, is 
fairly presented in accordance with GAAP; (3) the methods of measurement or presentation have 
not changed from those used in the prior period (or, if they have changed, the reasons for such 
changes): and (4) you have disclosed to us any significant assumptions or interpretations 
underlying the measurement or presentation of the supplementary information.   
 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining a process for tracking the status of 
audit findings and recommendations.  Management is also responsible for identifying and 
providing report copies of previous financial audits, attestation engagements, performance audits 
or other studies related to the objectives discussed in the Audit Scope and Objectives section of 
this letter.  This responsibility includes relaying to us corrective actions taken to address significant 



City of Brunswick, Georgia - 2024 Engagement Letter 
July 9, 2024 

Page 8 
 
findings and recommendations resulting from those audits, attestation engagements, performance 
audits, or studies.  You are also responsible for providing management’s views on our current 
findings, conclusions, and recommendations, as well as your planned corrective actions, for the 
report, and for the timing and format for providing that information. 
 
With regard to an exempt offering document with which Mauldin & Jenkins is not involved, you 
agree to clearly indicate in the exempt offering document that Mauldin & Jenkins is not involved 
with the contents of such offering document.  In the event that Mauldin & Jenkins is requested to 
be involved with an exempt offering document, you agree that the aforementioned auditor’s report 
or reference to Mauldin & Jenkins will not be included without our prior permission or consent.  
Furthermore, any agreement to perform work in connection with an exempt offering document, 
including an agreement to provide permission or consent, will be a separate engagement. 
 
With regard to the electronic dissemination of audited financial statements, including financial 
statements published electronically on your website, you understand that electronic sites are a 
means to distribute information and, therefore, we are not required to read the information 
contained in these sites or to consider the consistency of other information in the electronic site 
with the original document. 
 
As an attest client, Mauldin & Jenkins, LLC cannot retain or store documents, data, or records on 
behalf of the Authority.  This is in accordance with the ET section 1.295.143 of the AICPA Code 
of Professional Conduct.  The Authority is solely responsible for maintaining its own data and 
records. 
 
In that regard, SuraLink is used solely as a method of transferring data to Mauldin & Jenkins, LLC 
and is not intended for the storage of the City’s information.  All information you will provide 
through SuraLink is a copy and you will maintain original documents and data as part of your 
records.   
 
Engagement Administration, Fees, and Other 
We understand that your employees will prepare all cash or other confirmations we request and 
will locate any documents selected by us for testing. 
 
At the conclusion of the engagement, we will complete the appropriate sections of the Data 
Collection Form that summarizes our audit findings.  It is management’s responsibility to 
electronically submit the reporting package (including financial statements, schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards, summary schedule of prior audit findings, auditors’ reports, and 
corrective action plan) along with the Data Collection Form to the federal audit clearinghouse.  We 
will coordinate with you the electronic submission and certification.  The Data Collection Form 
and the reporting package must be submitted within the earlier of 30 calendar days after receipt of 
the auditors’ reports or nine months after the end of the audit period.   
 
We will provide copies of our reports to the City; however, management is responsible for 
distribution of the reports and financial statements.  Unless restricted by law or regulation, or 
containing privileged and confidential information, copies of our reports are to be made available 
for public inspection. 
 



City of Brunswick, Georgia - 2024 Engagement Letter 
July 9, 2024 

Page 9 
 
The audit documentation for this engagement is the property of Mauldin & Jenkins and constitutes 
confidential information.  However, subject to applicable laws and regulations, audit 
documentation and appropriate individuals will be made available upon request and in a timely 
manner to the Georgia Department of Audits and Accounts or its designee, a federal agency 
providing direct or indirect funding, or the U.S. Government Accountability Office for purposes 
of a quality review of the audit, to resolve audit findings, or to carry out oversight responsibilities. 
We will notify you of any such request. If requested, access to such audit documentation will be 
provided under the supervision of Mauldin & Jenkins personnel. Furthermore, upon request, we 
may provide copies of selected audit documentation to the aforementioned parties. These parties 
may intend, or decide, to distribute the copies or information contained therein to others, including 
other governmental agencies.   
 
The audit documentation for this engagement will be retained for a minimum of five years after 
the report release date or for any additional period requested by a regulatory body.  If we are aware 
that a federal awarding agency, pass-through entity, or auditee is contesting an audit finding, we 
will contact the party (ies) contesting the audit finding for guidance prior to destroying the audit 
documentation. 
 
We expect to begin our audit on approximately November 11, 2024 and to issue our reports no 
later than December 31, 2024.  Trey Scott is the engagement partner and is responsible for 
supervising the engagement and signing the reports or authorizing another individual to sign them.  
Our fee for these services will be $41,600 (audit) and $3,000-$9,000 (per single audit major 
program) for the year ended June 30, 2024.  Our hourly rates vary according to the degree of 
responsibility involved and the experience level of the personnel assigned to your audit.  Our 
invoices for these fees will be rendered as work progresses and are payable upon presentation.  The 
above fees are based on anticipated cooperation from your personnel (including complete and 
timely receipt by us of the information on the respective client participation listings) and the 
assumption that unexpected circumstances (including scope changes) will not be encountered 
during the audit.  If significant additional time is necessary, we will discuss it with management 
and arrive at a new fee estimate before we incur the additional costs. 
 
As a result of our prior or future services to you, we might be requested or required to provide 
information or documents to you or a third party in a legal, administrative, arbitration, or similar 
proceeding in which we are not a party.  If this occurs, our efforts in complying with such requests 
will be deemed billable to you as a separate engagement. We shall be entitled to compensation for 
our time and reasonable reimbursement for our expenses (including legal fees) in complying with 
the request.  For all requests we will observe the confidentiality requirements of our profession 
and will notify you promptly of the request.   

Reporting 
We will issue written reports upon completion of our Single Audit.  Our reports will be addressed 
to Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Commission for the City of Brunswick, Georgia.  
We cannot provide assurance that unmodified opinions will be expressed.  Circumstances may 
arise in which our report may differ from its expected form and content based on the results of our 
audit.  Depending on the nature of these circumstances, it may be necessary for us to modify our 
opinions or add emphasis-of-matter or other-matter paragraphs to our auditor’s report, or if 
necessary, withdraw from this engagement.  If our opinions on the financial statements or the 



City of Brunswick, Georgia - 2024 Engagement Letter 
July 9, 2024 

Page 10 
 
Single Audit compliance opinions are other than unmodified, we will discuss the reasons with you 
in advance.  If, for any reason, we are unable to complete the audit or are unable to form or have 
not formed opinions, we may decline to express opinions or to issue reports, or may withdraw 
from this engagement. 
 
The Government Auditing Standards report on internal control over financial reporting and on 
compliance and other matters will state (1) that the purpose of the report is solely to describe the 
scope of testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on compliance, and (2) that the 
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. The Uniform Guidance report on 
internal control over compliance will state that the purpose of the report on internal control over 
compliance is solely to describe the scope of testing of internal control over compliance and the 
results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Both reports will state 
that the report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to the City of Brunswick, Georgia and believe this 
letter accurately summarizes the significant terms of our engagement.  If you have any questions, 
please let us know.  If you agree with the terms of our engagement as described in this letter, please 
sign below and return it to us. 
 

Sincerely, 
 

MAULDIN & JENKINS, LLC 
 
 
 
Trey Scott 

     
 
RESPONSE: 
 
This letter correctly sets forth the understanding of the City of Brunswick Georgia. 
 
By:   
 
Title:   
 
 
 













MUNICIPAL COURT JUDGE SERVICE AGREEMENT  
 

This Agreement by and between the City of Brunswick, a municipal corporation, 
hereinafter referred to as the “City,” and Jason Randall Clark hereinafter referred to as 
the “Municipal Court Judge” or “Judge”, is as follows: 
 

WHEREAS, on July 3, 2024, the City Commission has appointed Jason Randall 
Clark to serve as Judge of the City’s Municipal Court; and 
 

WHEREAS, Jason Randall Clark has accepted the appointment and 
confirmation; and 
 

WHEREAS, Jason Randall Clark understands this is a part-time position and 
involves overseeing full time court staff; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to provide for the services of Judge of the Municipal Court 
and to establish compensation for such services, it is appropriate for the City to enter 
into an Employment Agreement with the Municipal Court Judge for such services; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, conditions and 
terms contained herein, the City and Jason Randall Clark agree as follows: 
 
1. TERM OF APPOINTMENT: 
 

Jason Randall Clark accepts the position of Judge of the Municipal Court of the 
City in accordance with the provisions of City Ordinance Section No. 15-2 as 
supplemented by this Agreement for a two (2) year term commencing on July 3, 2024 
and terminating on July 2, 2026, unless earlier terminated as described below. 
 

The Judge shall be, and remain, an attorney admitted to practice law in the State 
of Georgia. The Judge must also be a citizen of the United States of America and the 
State of Georgia. The Judge must comply with all other requirements for service as a 
municipal court judge, including but not limited to complying with all training requirements. 
The Judge shall immediately report to the City Manager any change affecting his 
membership in good standing in the Georgia Bar Association and any training 
deficiencies. 
 
2. SCOPE OF SERVICES: 
 

The Judge shall perform all duties legally prescribed for a judicial officer serving 
as a Judge of a lawfully constituted Municipal Court according to the requirements of the 
Georgia Constitution, the Official Code of Georgia, the Code of Judicial Conduct, the 
Uniform Rules, Municipal Courts of the State of Georgia and such other rules as may be 



prescribed by the Supreme Court of the State of Georgia. In addition, the Judge shall 
act in accordance with any published opinions of the Judicial Qualifying Committee. The 
Judge shall preside over all pre-trial conferences, cases, trials, and hearings or arrange 
for a Judge Pro Tempore to do so.  The Judge also shall perform the duties described 
in section 3. 
 

The Judge shall at all times faithfully and to the best of his ability administer 
activities of the court, assign and hear all cases and fulfill obligations of the Court as 
established by State or local law, rule, statute, regulation and City ordinance. 
 

The Judge shall appoint Judges Pro Tempore for vacation, affidavits of prejudice, 
recusal from a pending case, illness and required judicial continuing education and 
training. The Judge may appoint only Judges Pro Tempore who have been approved by 
the City Commission to serve as Judges Pro Tempore. 
 

The Judge shall instruct all Judges Pro Tempore concerning procedures and 
customary sentences in order to promote uniformity to the greatest extent possible. 
 

The Judge shall make a reasonable effort to maintain a pool of at least two Judges 
Pro Tempore and shall endeavor to rotate them evenly so that all will be reasonably 
familiar with Municipal Court procedures should their service be necessary. 
 
3. JUDICIAL INDEPENDENCE AND ADMINISTRATION: 
 

The Judge is independent from the City when performing judicial responsibilities 
and nothing contained herein shall be construed to interfere with the Judge when 
performing judicial duties. The Judge, or any Judge Pro Tempore serving in the absence 
of the Judge, is solely responsible for judicial decisions. Judicial decisions include, but 
are not limited to, establishment of a standard bail schedule, determination of bail in 
individual cases, determination of financial ability, determination of conditions of 
probation, determination of liability, and determination of eligibility for indigent defense 
and for alternatives to monetary penalties including community service and penalty or 
fine reductions. 
 

Furthermore, the Judge is responsible for doing the following: 
 

a. In coordination with the City Attorney and the Court Clerk, approving court forms 
and procedures necessary for the proper exercise of constitutional rights and 
other compliance with the law, and updating such forms and procedures as 
necessary; 

b. In coordination with the City Attorney and the Court Clerk, providing proper 



training of court staff and officials subject to the Judge’s direction and control 
about court procedures and the use of approved court forms, and updating such 
training as necessary; 

c. Ensuring that court staff and officials subject to the Judge’s direction and control 
use approved forms, follow approved procedures and comply with applicable 
provisions of the Code of Judicial Conduct, court rules, ordinances and statutes; 

d. Notifying the City Commission and/or City Attorney of additional resources 
necessary to ensure compliance with applicable laws and rules; 

e. Notifying the City Commission and/or City Attorney of service provider 
performance deficiencies; and 

f. Reviewing quarterly reports and other communications of the Georgia 
Department of Community Supervision Misdemeanor Probation Oversight 
program and taking any actions the Judge deems necessary or appropriate. 

 
The Court Clerk shall be appointed by the City Manager and shall serve as an At-

Will employee of the City. The Court Clerk and all represented court staff are City 
employees subject to City rules and regulations. However, they are subject to the 
Judge’s direction and control when performing duties for the court. Their salaries, 
benefits, hours of work and working conditions shall be established by the City.  
 

The Judge understands that court staff adhere to the same applicable personnel 
policies as other City employees. The Parties agree that the Judge will participate in the 
review and amendment of any such policies to ensure that they recognize the unique 
nature of court employment and the Judge’s rights and responsibilities with respect to 
court employees. The Judge acknowledges the Court Clerk may perform other duties 
for the City that are not in conflict with the separation of powers. 
  

The Judge will confer with the City Manager to coordinate administrative activities 
concerning City procedures, policies and the budget in an effort to retain and insure 
consistency and common practices throughout the City. 
 
4. COMPENSATION: 
 

a. In consideration for the successful performance of the duties as Judge, the City 
agrees to compensate the Judge in the amount of         dollars per 
month for the services provided under this Agreement. Additionally, the Judge 
shall be entitled to mileage expenses at the prevailing I.R.S. standard rate for 
travel related to official duties.  

b. The Judge’s salary and benefits shall be set and appropriated through the City’s 
budget process. The Judge’s compensation within the adopted budget may be 



increased, but not decreased, during the Judge’s term of office.  
c. The Judge’s salary shall be determined annually on January 1. This salary shall 

constitute compensation for all responsibilities and duties in the administration of 
the Municipal Court.  

d. The City shall pay the cost of up to two (2) ICJE professional judicial education 
classes offered for judges, including registration, lodging, per diem and mileage 
expenses in accordance with established City travel policies.  

e. As an independent contractor, the Judge expressly understands and is aware that 
the City will not deduct Federal and State taxes, Social Security, or 
Medicare/Medicaid from compensation paid to him. The City will issue a Form 
1099 to the Judge at year end and the Judge shall be solely responsible for any 
taxes or other deductions on compensation paid to him under this Agreement.  

 
5. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION: 
 

This Agreement shall be administered by the City Manager and/or designee on 
behalf of the City and by Jason Randall Clark on behalf of the Municipal Court Judge. 
Any written notices to be served on either party shall be served or mailed to the following 
addresses: 
 

IF TO THE CITY:     IF TO THE JUDGE: 
 

City of Brunswick     Jason Randall Clark 
Attn: City Manager     Municipal Court Judge 
P.O. Box 550      1229 Newcastle Street  
Brunswick, Georgia 31521    Brunswick, Georgia 31520 

  
6. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT: 
 

This Agreement may be terminated during the Judge’s term of office as follows: 
 

By the Judge if he provides a minimum of 60 days written notice prior to his 
effective date of termination, unless otherwise mutually agreed by the parties. 
 

By the City only as provided in O.C.G.A. Section 36-32-2.2. 
7. MERGER AND AMENDMENT: 
 

This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the City and the Judge with 
respect to the matters set forth herein, and any prior or contemporaneous 
understandings are merged herein. This Agreement shall not be modified except by 
written instruments executed by the City and Judge hereto. 
 



This Agreement shall be governed under the laws of the State of Georgia, and 
any dispute regarding this Agreement shall be resolved in Glynn County Superior Court, 
State of Georgia. 
 
8. SEVERABILITY 
 

If any provision of this Agreement or their application to any circumstance is held 
invalid, the remainder of this Agreement and their application to other circumstances is 
not affected. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto do hereby execute this Agreement. 
 
 
CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA MUNICIPAL COURT JUDGE 
 
By:      By:       
 
Mayor, Cosby H. Johnson   Jason Randall Clark, Municipal Court Judge 
 
Date:      Date:       
 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
  
 
City Attorney 
 

















































 

 
4871-0854-2890 
 
4871-0854-2890 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the 1st 
day of August, 2024 (the “Effective Date”), by and between THE CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA, a 
municipal corporation of the State of Georgia, acting by and through its Mayor and Board of 
Commissioners, (the “City”), and St. Mark’s Towers Preservation, LP, a Georgia limited partnership 
(“Developer”).  

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the City entered into that certain Community Development Block Grant – Disaster 
Recovery Affordable Multifamily Rehabilitation Program Subrecipient Agreement with the Georgia 
Department of Community Affairs (“DCA”) on or about November 2, 2023, attached hereto as Exhibit A 
(the “Subrecipient Agreement”), wherein the DCA made $6,000,000 in Community Development Block 
Grant – Disaster Recovery (”CDBG-DR”) available to the City (the “Grant Funds”) for the rehabilitation of 
affordable multifamily housing under the DCA’s Action Plan; and 

WHEREAS, DCA has determined that it is beneficial to the health and welfare of the citizens of 
the City for the housing development known as St. Mark’s Towers, a 150-unit multifamily housing 
development for seniors located in the most impacted and distressed area of the City (the “Project”), to 
be rehabilitated using the Grant Funds;  

WHEREAS, the Project is owned by Developer; and 

WHEREAS, the City and Developer enter into this Agreement to facilitate the completion of the 
Project, which sets forth the duties and obligations of the Parties during the construction phase of the 
Project; and  

WHEREAS, the City and Developer desire to enter into this Agreement to memorialize the terms 
and conditions of the proposed redevelopment, construction, equipping, leasing and operation of the 
Project as contemplated herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and for 
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged 
and confessed, the City and Developer agree as follows:   

ARTICLE I 
APPROVALS 

Section 1.1 City Approvals.  As a condition precedent to all obligations of Developer and the City 
contained herein, the City covenants and agrees that: 

(a) City Approvals.  The City has held all public meetings and performed all obligations 
required to authorize the use of the Grant Funds, the execution of the Subrecipient Agreement, and the 
entering into of this Agreement. Specifically, the City has conducted a Request for Proposals for a 
construction contractor (the “Procurement Process”) to perform the work described on Exhibit B of the 
Subrecipient Agreement (the “Work”), a copy of which is attached hereto.  The Procurement Process 
resulted in the selection of a properly licensed and bonded contractor for performance of the Work (the 



 - 2 -  
 
4871-0854-2890 

“General Contractor”). The City covenants and agrees that the Procurement Process has been properly 
and diligently completed, and there is no deficiency in such process that would prevent the Developer 
from entering into the Construction Contract with the General Contractor. 

(b) Effect of Approval.  The City shall enter into all necessary approvals and consents 
authorizing the transactions contemplated herein and deliver reasonable evidence of the same to 
Developer. 

Section 1.2 Availability of Funds.  Under the terms of the Subrecipient Agreement, DCA will issue 
payments to the City for the reimbursement of eligible expenses related to the Project.  Eligible 
expenses shall be deemed to include those expenses related to the Work described on Exhibit B, 
consistent with the Subrecipient Agreement, federal statutes, regulations and the terms and conditions 
of DCA’s federal award and subject to the approval of the City, directly or through the DCA. The City 
agrees to provide funds from DCA to the Contractor, following approval from the Developer (or to the 
Developer as reimbursement, at the Developer’s direction if the Developer provides written evidence of 
its payment to the Contractor, pending receipt of Grant Funds), provided, such request has been 
approved by the City and DCA through the Draw Procedure detailed in section 7.2. Developer agrees 
that any work to be performed in excess of the total amount of the Grant Funds, or outside the scope of 
the Work described on Exhibit B shall not be considered an eligible expense and must be paid by 
Developer.  Such work or expense shall not be subject to the terms of this Agreement.  The City shall not 
enter into any other agreement or commitment related to the Grant Funds without Developer’s prior 
written consent. 

ARTICLE II 
DEFINITIONS 

Certain capitalized terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings specified below: 

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the preamble. 

“Approval” means the written agreement of a party hereto that it concurs with a particular 
requirement contained herein.  Except as otherwise specifically addressed herein, a party’s approval or 
consent to any matter shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. 

“Approved Budget” means the budget attached hereto as Exhibit D, as the same may be 
modified or amended from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, setting forth 
the Project Costs for the Work that have been approved by Developer; provided, if changes to the 
Approved Budget are approved in accordance with Section 4.2, the changes shall be appended to Exhibit 
D attached hereto.  The Approved Budget shall include all necessary site work serving the Project Site.   

“Approved Change” means any change to the Approved Budget, the Work, or the Approved 
Schedule effected in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

“Approved Schedule” means the critical path schedule for the Work, as the same may be 
amended or modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, attached 
hereto as Exhibit E.   

“Change Order” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.6(a).  



 - 3 -  
 
4871-0854-2890 

“Complete” or “Completed” or “Completion” means, with respect to the Project as a whole, 
that (i) all Work necessary to fully construct and complete the Project in accordance with the 
Construction Contract and the terms of this Agreement, including Punch List Items, shall have been fully 
and finally executed, completed and delivered, (ii) a certificate of occupancy (or local equivalent) shall 
have been issued by the appropriate Governmental Authority, (iii) the General Contractor and all 
subcontractors, sub-subcontractors and materialmen providing services and materials to the Project 
shall have delivered final lien waivers to Developer, and (iv) all other required final approvals of the 
Project shall have been issued by Planning Authorities. The City shall have no Completion obligations in 
excess of the City Funding Cap. 

“Construction Contract” means the Standard Form of Agreement between the Developer and 
General Contractor (AIA Document A101-2017) to be entered into by the Developer and the General 
Contractor, as the same may be amended, modified, supplemented or restated. 

“Contracts” mean, collectively (i) the Construction Contract, (ii) all Change Orders, (iii) all other 
written contracts or agreements which the Developer enters into for the Work, and (iv) all written 
amendments or modifications to any of the foregoing.  

“City” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.  

“City Funding Cap” means the aggregate amount of the Grant Funds, net of administrative fees 
to be used by the City in the amount of $25,000. 

“City Representative” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2.  

“Date of Commencement of Work” means the date upon which the Notice to Proceed is issued 
to the General Contractor for the Project pursuant to Section 6.1 below. 

“Developer” has the meaning set forth in the preamble, and any approved assignee permitted 
hereunder.  

“Developer Representatives” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2. 

“Effective Date” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.  

“Force Majeure” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.17.  

“General Contractor” means that person that was selected pursuant to the Procurement 
Process and is responsible for the Work pursuant to the Construction Contract. 

“Governmental Authority” means any governmental or quasi-governmental entity having 
jurisdiction over the Project or over the Work. 

“Land Records” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.  

“Laws” mean all applicable federal, state and local laws, codes, ordinances and orders. 

“Notice to Proceed” means the notice to proceed with the Work to be given to General 
Contractor pursuant to the Construction Contract. 



 - 4 -  
 
4871-0854-2890 

“Permits” mean all permits, licenses and approvals necessary to rehabilitate and occupy the 
Project, as the case may be, including (i) all approvals required or necessitated by any Planning 
Authority, and (ii) all approvals under any Contract.  Without limitation, the term “Permits” shall include 
all required permits for the construction and use of utilities, and drainage facilities, but shall exclude 
permits for specific facility operating licenses needed by Developer to conduct its business operations.  
The parties anticipate that the required Permits may be obtained in stages to facilitate the progress of 
the Project while final building permits are being reviewed and obtained. 

“Person” means any individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership (general or 
limited), joint venture, association, joint stock company, trust, government or any agency or political 
subdivision thereof, other business entity, or other organization recognized at law. 

“Plans” means the plans for the Work previously submitted to and approved by the City and the 
Developer, as the same may be amended or modified from time to time by the Developer and with the 
consent of the City, which consent shall not be unreasonably, withheld, conditioned, or delayed.  

“Planning Authorities” means all Governmental Authorities, and any other Person with approval 
rights over any aspect of the Project.   

“Prevailing Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.11. 

“Progress Meeting” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2.  

“Project” means the remediation and rehabilitation of the St. Mark’s Towers development and 
related site improvements, as shown on Exhibit B, and all other ancillary improvements or facilities 
described in the Construction Contract. 

“Project Costs” means all costs or expenses of any kind or character necessary to perform the 
Work and Complete the Project, provided that the City’s obligations shall be limited to the City Funding 
Cap. 

“Project Site” means the land on which the Project is located, as described on Exhibit C attached 
hereto. 

“Punch List Items” shall mean such minor items of purely cosmetic nature which are incomplete 
following Substantial Completion and which, individually or collectively, do not adversely affect 
Developer’s ability to occupy the Project for the conduct of normal business operations.  The Developer 
shall cause all Punch List Items to be corrected and/or otherwise completed within thirty (30) days 
following Substantial Completion of the Project.     

“Substantial Completion” or “Substantially Completed” with respect to completion of the 
Project means that (i) all Work other than Punch List Items shall be complete, (ii) a certificate of 
substantial completion shall have been issued with respect to the Project, (iii) a certificate of occupancy 
(or local equivalent) shall have been issued by the appropriate Governmental Authority, (iv) all other 
required final approvals of the Project shall have been issued by Planning Authorities, and (v) such 
additional items as may be required under the Construction Contract for Substantial Completion (as 
defined in the Construction Contract) have occurred, to the extent such items were approved, or 
deemed approved, by Developer in connection with its approval of the Construction Contract. 



 - 5 -  
 
4871-0854-2890 

“Total Project Cost” shall mean those Project Costs which are actually incurred by the Developer 
pursuant to the Approved Budget, as amended or supplemented pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement through Completion of the Project.  

“Work”, whether or not capitalized, means all labor, materials, fixtures, equipment, appliances, 
tools, knowledge, know-how, expertise, coordination, supervision, sequencing and other construction 
services necessary to Complete the Project in compliance with this Agreement.  

ARTICLE III 
PRE-CONSTRUCTION 

Section 3.1 Pre-Construction Activities and Documentation.   Following the satisfaction in full of 
the City approvals set forth in Article I, the City and Developer agree to take the following actions, in the 
following order to the extent practical or advisable, and to use commercially reasonable efforts to 
satisfy each action item within the timeline described herein: 

(a) Construction Contract.  The Developer shall promptly enter into the Construction 
Contract with the General Contractor who prepared the selected proposal under the Procurement 
Process.  The City shall not accept any other proposal or otherwise enter into any Construction Contract 
for the Project. 

(b) Contracts.   The Developer shall deliver, promptly upon execution, copies of all contracts 
related to the Project or the Work to the City. 

Section 3.2 Representatives.  Developer and the City appoint the following representatives: 

“Developer Representatives”: means James Carmichael or such other Developer 
Representative as James Carmichael may designate from time to time. 
 
“City Representatives”: means Tim Nelson, Capital Projects Manager for the City, or 
such other Developer Representative as the City may designate from time to time. 
 

Except for Notices, such representatives shall be the primary contact points for the respective parties, 
and all day-to-day communication regarding the Project shall be directed to such individuals.  Either 
party may substitute another representative by written Notice to the other party.   

ARTICLE IV 
PROJECT COST AND ADJUSTMENTS TO APPROVED BUDGET  

Section 4.1 Responsibility for Project Costs.  The Developer shall not materially modify the Work to 
be undertaken without the prior consent of the City. Developer shall be responsible for all Project Costs 
in excess of the City Funding Cap.  

Section 4.2 Changes to Approved Budget.  Except as provided herein, the Approved Budget may 
not be changed other than pursuant to an Approved Change. 

Section 4.3 Reallocation of Certain Line Items.  The Developer shall develop and Complete the 
Project in accordance with the Plans and Approved Budget, except that the Developer shall have the 
right to reallocate any cost savings actually achieved in any hard-cost line item of the Approved Budget 



 - 6 -  
 
4871-0854-2890 

to cover any cost overruns actually incurred in any other hard-cost line item in the Approved Budget 
provided that such item is an eligible expense and with the City’s reasonable approval, which approval 
shall not be withheld unless such reallocation would violate the CDBG-DR program requirements. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Developer shall not determine to use any materials of lesser quality 
than initially approved in the Plans by the City, without the prior consent of the City, which consent shall 
not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. 

ARTICLE V 
CONSTRUCTION 

Section 5.1 City’s Completion Agreement.  The Developer shall cause the Project to be Completed 
in a good and workmanlike manner in strict accordance with the Plans, within the time of the Approved 
Schedule, for costs not in excess of the amounts set forth in the Approved Budget, in accordance with all 
Permits, Contracts, Laws, and requirements of all Planning Authorities, and free and clear of liens or 
claims for liens for material supplied and for labor or services performed in connection with such 
construction.  

Section 5.2 Correction of Defects.  The Developer shall, at no additional cost to the City, cause the 
correction of any material defect in the Project. 

Section 5.3  Risk of Loss; Insurance.   

(a) All risk of loss or damage to the Project shall be retained by the Developer.  Upon the 
occurrence of any material loss or damage to the Project which would reasonably be expected to have 
an impact on the Approved Schedule, the parties will negotiate in good faith to determine and 
implement such changes to the Approved Schedule as may be reasonable under the circumstances. 

(b) From the commencement of construction until the Completion of the Project, and 
during any period in which re-construction, alteration or other construction activity by the Developer is 
occurring on the Project Site, the Developer, at its sole expense, shall maintain or cause the General 
Contractor to maintain builder’s risk insurance covering the construction of the Project in an amount not 
less than the full insurable value of the Project, and materials supplied in connection with the Project.  
The Developer or the General Contractor shall furnish to the City evidence of coverage and any renewals 
or replacements of this insurance.  The City shall be named as an additional insured under this policy up 
to the amount of the City Funding Cap. 

(c) In addition to builder’s risk insurance, from the commencement of construction until 
the Completion of the Project, and during any period in which re-construction, alteration or other 
construction activity by the Developer is occurring on the Project Site, the Developer shall maintain or 
cause its contractors to maintain, general liability and other types of insurance reasonably satisfactory in 
form and content to the City and insuring Developer and the City against all hazards normally insured 
against in the construction of projects similar to the Project. 

Section 5.4 Record Drawings and Other Deliverables.  The Developer shall cause the General 
Contractor to maintain at the Project Site for review by the City and Developer one (1) record copy of all 
drawings, specifications, addenda, Contracts and Change Orders, in good order and marked currently to 
record all changes made during construction, and approved shop drawings, product data and samples, 
all of which the General Contractor shall deliver to Developer upon completion of the Project.  



 - 7 -  
 
4871-0854-2890 

Developer agrees to provide, or cause to be provided, any and all documents required by the City to 
comply with the terms of the Subrecipient Agreement. 

Section 5.5 Warranty.  The Construction Contract shall include the warranty stated in Section 3.5 of 
the AIA Document A201-2017, which shall run to the benefit of both the City and Developer.   

ARTICLE VI 
CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE 

Section 6.1 Schedule.  Upon (a) the Developer’s receipt of all then-necessary Permits, and (b) the 
execution of all Contracts releasing the General Contractor to commence work, the Developer shall 
promptly issue the Notice to Proceed for the Project to the General Contractor, unless the parties agree 
otherwise. 

Section 6.2 Weather Delays.  The parties will measure the delays for the Project caused by such 
periods of adverse weather activity by use of the record keeping of the General Contractor at the Project 
Site.  The Developer shall require the General Contractor to notify Developer, no less frequently than 
monthly, of the loss of any portion of a workday resulting from adverse weather.  The Developer shall 
notify the City if it anticipates that any such loss will likely cause a delay in the Substantial Completion of 
the Project. 

Section 6.3 Unavailable Materials.  If the Developer, without fault or delay of its own, is unable to 
obtain a material to be included in the Project in a timely fashion, then the Developer, in coordination 
with the General Contractor, shall select a substitute material of equal or better quality and appearance 
and at equal or lesser cost than contemplated in the Construction Contract; provided that if such 
substitution constitutes a Change Order, the Approval of such substitution shall be governed by Section 
7.6.   

ARTICLE VII 
OVERSIGHT, PROGRESS MEETINGS, APPROVALS AND CHANGES 

Section 7.1 Developer Responsibility.   The City acknowledges and agrees that Developer shall have 
the right and authority to execute, carry out, monitor and supervise the design and construction of the 
Project in accordance with the terms hereof notwithstanding the source of funding for such Work. The 
City and DCA and their respective agents, employees, contractors and invitees reserve the right to enter 
upon the Project during construction to perform periodic on-site monitoring of the compliance of the 
Developer with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the requirements of the CDBG-DR 
program, and of the adequacy and timelines of the Developer’s performance under this Agreement. If 
the City has good cause to believe that the Work is not being done in accordance with applicable laws, 
including the CDBG-DR program requirements, then the City shall notify the Developer that corrective 
action should be undertaken. The Developer shall initiate efforts to cure such deficiencies within 30-
days, and thereafter continue with diligence efforts to cause such deficiencies to be corrected. If the 
Developer does not initiate cure efforts within 30-days, and continue with diligence efforts to cause 
such deficiencies to be corrected, then the City may impose additional conditions on the Developer and 
the Developer’s use of CDBG-DR funds consistent with 2 CFR 200.207.  

Section 7.2 Draw Procedure.  Based on requests for payment from the Contractor, which shall be 
provided to the Developer and with a copy to the City Representative, the Developer shall, no more than 
once per month, submit a draw application to the City containing documentation, including a report 



 - 8 -  
 
4871-0854-2890 

showing the percentage of completion of the Project, from the General Contractor of amounts owed for 
work performed and materials incorporated into the Project.  Such requests must evidence eligible 
activities under the CDBG-DR program. Draw applications submitted to the City for payment are subject 
to the inspection and confirmation of City staff that the Work is completed and materials purchased are 
present in conformance with the Agreement; provided, the City staff shall be commercially reasonable 
in such inspection and confirmation. The City may approve requests for advanced pre-purchase 
payments for materials based on invoices, to be confirmed after materials are purchased.  Following 
inspection and confirmation by City staff, and payment approval from the Developer, the City shall have 
ten (10) business days to submit the request for payment to DCA for its review and approval or to 
otherwise notify the Developer of any missing information necessary to approve such request.  Failure 
of the City to timely respond to a draw application submitted by the Developer as final shall be 
considered approval of such request, at which point DCA will undertake its review and approval. 
Following DCA’s approval and payment of the draw request, the City shall have three (3) business days 
from the City’s receipt of payment from DCA to provide payment to the Contractor for the Work 
completed (or to the Developer, as provided in Section 1.2, for reimbursement of payment to the 
Contractor, pending receipt of Grant Funds). The City may also, at its discretion, decide to pay the 
General Contractor, with the approval of the Developer, the amount requested prior to submitting the 
City’s request for reimbursement to DCA.  

Section 7.3 Progress Meetings.  The City’s Representatives, Developer’s Representatives, and the 
General Contractor shall meet at least every other week (each, a “Progress Meeting”) with an agenda 
prepared in advance by Developer.  Progress Meeting participants shall update the other participants on 
the status of the Project, and the parties shall endeavor to make any decisions relating to the Approved 
Schedule, the Approved Budget or the Contracts necessary or appropriate in accordance with this 
Agreement. Developer shall take minutes of each meeting and distribute at or before each meeting 
copies of the minutes of the preceding meeting.  Meetings may be held and attended by telephone, by 
teleconference, video or web conference, or in person. 

Section 7.4 Revisions.  If the parties agree at any Progress Meeting on changes, which require both 
the City’s and Developer’s approval, to or refinements of the Approved Schedule, the Approved Budget 
or the Contracts, the Developer’s Representatives and the City’s Representatives shall so revise, or cause 
to be revised, the relevant item, except that no such change shall be final until each of the City and 
Developer initials or signs the written change on the revised Approved Budget, the revised Approved 
Schedule, or Contract, as applicable. If City’s Representatives do not attend a Progress Meeting in 
person, then any changes or refinements shall be submitted to City for its review and approval within 
five (5) business days after the Progress Meeting and the City shall have five (5) business days thereafter 
to approve or object to the same in writing.  If no response is provided by City at the conclusion of such 
five (5) days period, then such change or refinement shall be deemed to be an affirmative approval by 
the City of such change or refinement. 

Section 7.5 Deviation from Work.  The Developer shall not knowingly permit any deviation in the 
scope of the Work unless the same is first approved by the City, as provided in this Agreement.  Except 
for (a) limited rights to reallocate between line items in the Approved Budget as permitted under 
Section 4.3, (b) certain Change Orders permitted without the City’s Approval pursuant to Section 7.6(b), 
or (c) as otherwise provided herein, the Developer shall not deviate nor permit any deviation from 
either the Approved Budget or the Work to be performed under the Contracts without a Change Order. 

Section 7.6 Change Orders. 



 - 9 -  
 
4871-0854-2890 

(a) Change Orders with Developer Approval.  Except as permitted pursuant to 
Section 7.6(b) below, the Developer will not permit the performance of any Work pursuant to any 
change in the Construction Contract unless the same is in the form of AIA Document G-701-2017 (each 
such change, a “Change Order”), executed by the Developer, and General Contractor in accordance with 
the terms of the Construction Contract and approved in writing in advance by the City, in its reasonable 
discretion, as provided in this Agreement.  

(b) Change Orders without City Approval.  Notwithstanding Section 7.6(a), the Developer 
may authorize any Change Order without City’s prior approval if in the Developer’s reasonable 
discretion, the failure to promptly approve and implement such Change Order presents an immediate 
risk of material damage or loss to either the Developer or the Project; provided, however, Developer 
shall as promptly as possible notify the City and DCA of the need for such Change Order and the parties 
shall cooperate in good faith in the implementation of the same; provided, notwithstanding anything to 
the contrary herein, any costs for the Project or Work exceeding the Grant Funds shall be borne by the 
Developer. 

ARTICLE VIII 
ENFORCEMENT  

Section 8.1 Remedies.  The parties shall be entitled to enforce this Agreement through the exercise 
of any right or remedy available hereunder, at law or in equity including, without limitation, the right to 
seek injunctive relief, the right to seek specific performance of this Agreement, and the right to seek 
monetary damages, subject to Section 8.2. 

Section 8.2 Limitation of Liability.   

(a) To the extent allowed by law, each party to this Agreement shall be liable to the other 
party hereto only for actual direct damages to such other party and in no event shall either party be 
liable for any special, consequential or punitive damages. 

(b) The liability of Developer to the City for any default by Developer under this Agreement 
shall be limited to the interest of Developer in the Project Site.  The City agrees to look solely to 
Developer’s interest in the Project Site for the recovery of any judgment against Developer, and neither 
(i) Developer nor Developer’s officers, directors, employees and/or agents, (ii) nor any now existing, or 
hereafter existing, mortgagee of the Project Site or any successor of any such mortgagee, including but 
not limited to, by assignment or foreclosure, shall be personally liable for any such judgment.  Any such 
judgment and/or lien created by such judgment shall be subject and subordinate to any mortgage lien of 
record priority on the Project Site. 

(c) The liability of the City to Developer for any default by the City under this Agreement 
shall be limited to the City Funding Cap as it may exist from time to time.  Developer agrees to look 
solely to the City up to the amount of the City Funding Cap for the recovery of any judgment against the 
City, and the City’s officers, directors, employees and agents shall not be personally liable for any such 
judgment. 

ARTICLE IX 
DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

Section 9.1 Mediation.   



 - 10 -  
 
4871-0854-2890 

(a) Condition Precedent.  Any claim, dispute or other matter in question arising out of or 
related to this Agreement shall be subject to mediation as a condition precedent to the institution of 
legal or equitable proceedings by either party.  A demand for mediation shall be made within a 
reasonable time after the claim, dispute or other matter in question has arisen.  In no event shall the 
demand for mediation be made after the date when institution of legal or equitable proceedings based 
on such claim, dispute or other matter in question would be barred by the applicable statute of repose 
or limitations. 

(b) Rules.  The parties shall endeavor to resolve claims, disputes and other matters in 
question between them by mediation which, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, shall be in 
accordance with the Construction Industry Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association 
currently in effect.  Request for mediation shall be filed in writing with the other party to this Agreement 
and with the American Arbitration Association.  The request may be made concurrently with the filing of 
a lien or a complaint in litigation but, in such event, mediation shall proceed in advance of any lien 
foreclosure or legal or equitable proceedings, which shall be stayed pending mediation. 

(c) Joinder.  A mediation pursuant to this Section may be joined with a mediation involving 
common issues of law or fact between the City and any Person with whom the City has a contractual 
obligation to mediate disputes.  No other mediation arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall 
include, by consolidation, joinder or in any other manner, an additional Person not a party to this 
Agreement, except by written consent containing a specific reference to this Agreement signed by 
Developer, the City, and any other Person sought to be joined.  Consent to mediation involving an 
additional Person shall not constitute consent to mediation of any claim, dispute or other matter in 
question not described in the written consent or with a Person not named or described therein.  The 
foregoing agreement to mediation with an additional Person duly consented to by the parties to this 
Agreement shall be specifically enforceable in accordance with applicable law in any court having 
jurisdiction thereof. 

Section 9.2 Litigation.  In the event the parties are unable to reach agreement through mediation 
conducted over a period of at least two (2) days, either party may proceed to litigation or other available 
remedies.  Each party consents to the personal jurisdiction of the federal and state courts located in the 
State of Georgia, waive any argument that such a forum is not convenient and agrees that any litigation 
relating to this Agreement shall have venue in the Federal District Court for the applicable District of 
Georgia, and they do hereby submit to the jurisdiction of such court regardless of their residence or 
where this Agreement or any other instrument may be executed. 

Section 9.3 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL.  EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND 
ALL RIGHTS IT MAY HAVE TO DEMAND THAT ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM ARISING 
OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES BE TRIED 
BY JURY. THIS WAIVER EXTENDS TO ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TO DEMAND A TRIAL BY JURY ARISING FROM 
ANY SOURCE, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES, THE 
CONSTITUTION OF ANY STATE, COMMON LAW OR ANY APPLICABLE STATUTE OR REGULATION. EACH 
PARTY HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT SUCH PARTY IS KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVING THE 
RIGHT TO DEMAND TRIAL BY JURY. 



 - 11 -  
 
4871-0854-2890 

ARTICLE X 
MISCELLANEOUS  

Section 10.1 Notices.  All notices, consents, approvals and other communications (collectively, 
“Notices”) that may be or are required to be given by either Developer or the City under this Agreement 
shall be properly made only if in writing and sent to the address of Developer or the City, as applicable, 
set forth below, as the same may be modified in accordance herewith, by hand delivery, United States 
mail (as registered or certified mail) or nationally recognized overnight delivery service.  

 
If to the City: City of Brunswick, Georgia 

601 Gloucester St. 
Brunswick, GA 31520 
Attention: Tim Nelson 
tnelson@cityofbrunswick-ga.gov 

with a copy to: McQuigg, Smith & Corry, LLC 
1612 Newcastle Street, Suite 211  

 Brunswick, Georgia 31520  
 Attention:  Brian Corry 
 brian@msclawga.com  
 
If to the Developer: St. Mark’s Towers Preservation, LP 

c/o its general partner, Housing Preservation, Inc.  
795 Ridgelake Boulevard, Suite 300 
Memphis, TN  38120 
415.572.4511 Cell 

 James.Carmichael@ST-Residential.com 
  
With a copy to:   Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & Berkowitz, PC 

One Eastover Center 
100 Vision Drive, Suite 400 
Jackson, MS 39211 
Attn: H. Lee Hill II  
lhill@bakerdonelson.com 

 
Either party may change its address for Notices by giving written notice to the other party in 

accordance with this provision.  Notices shall be deemed received: (i) if sent by hand or overnight 
delivery service, on the date of delivery; and (ii) if sent by United States mail (as registered or certified 
mail), five (5) days after the date of deposit.  The refusal to accept delivery shall constitute acceptance.  

Section 10.2 Successors and Assigns.   This Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit 
of the parties hereto, their heirs, executors and administrators and permitted successors and assigns; 
provided that, except as it relates to Assignee, this Agreement shall not be assignable by Developer 
without the express written approval of the City. 



 - 12 -  
 
4871-0854-2890 

Section 10.3 Modifications. This Agreement may be modified only by written agreement signed by 
Developer and the City.  

Section 10.4 Captions and Headings. The captions and headings in this Agreement are for 
convenience only, are not a part of this Agreement, do not in any way limit or amplify the terms and 
provisions hereof, and are not to be considered in the construction of the provisions of this Agreement.  

Section 10.5 No Joint Venture. The relationship between Developer and the City at all times shall 
remain solely that of Developer and the City and shall not be deemed a partnership or joint venture.  

Section 10.6 Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any 
Person or circumstance shall to any extent be held invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such term or provision to any Person 
or circumstance other than those as to which it is invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected 
thereby, and each term and provision of this Agreement shall be valid and be in force to the fullest 
extent permitted by law.  

Section 10.7 Governing Law. This Agreement is being executed and delivered, and is intended to be 
performed, and shall be governed, interpreted, construed, and enforced under the laws of the State of 
Georgia without regard to its conflict of laws.  

Section 10.8 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the other Contracts contain the entire 
agreement between Developer and the City relating to the subject matter of this Agreement and 
supersede all prior agreements and understandings with respect thereto.  

Section 10.9 Multiple Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in a number of counterparts, 
each of which constitutes an original and all of which constitute, collectively, one agreement.  

Section 10.10 Confidentiality. The terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all other agreements 
and instruments executed and delivered by the respective parties in connection with this Agreement, 
including all preliminary drafts of such documents, shall remain confidential, except to the extent 
required by the Georgia Public Records Act.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party shall be 
permitted to issue press releases relating to the transactions contemplated herein, subject to the review 
and prior written approval of the other party. 

Section 10.11 Attorneys’ Fees. If any mediation or litigation ensues with respect to the rights, duties, 
or obligations of Developer and the City under this Agreement, neither party shall be entitled to 
attorneys’ fees.   

Section 10.12 Construction of Agreement. The terms and provisions of this Agreement represent the 
results of negotiations between Developer and the City, each of which has been represented by legal 
counsel of its selection, and neither of which has acted under duress or compulsion, whether legal, 
economic or otherwise. Consequently, the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be interpreted 
and construed in accordance with their usual and customary meanings, and the parties hereby expressly 
waive and disclaim in connection with the interpretation and construction of this Agreement any rule of 
law or procedure requiring otherwise, including, without limitation, any rule of law to the effect that 
ambiguous or conflicting terms or provisions contained in this Agreement shall be interpreted or 
construed against the party whose attorney prepared this Agreement or any earlier draft of this 
Agreement.  



 - 13 -  
 
4871-0854-2890 

Section 10.13 Waiver. Failure by either party to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement for 
any length of time shall not be deemed a waiver of its rights set forth in this Agreement. Such a waiver 
may be made only by an instrument in writing signed by the party sought to be charged with the waiver.  

Section 10.14 Authority. The execution and performance of this Agreement by each party is 
authorized by all applicable laws, regulations, and necessary action of each party’s governing entity, and 
this Agreement constitutes the valid and binding obligation of each party, enforceable in accordance 
with its terms.  

Section 10.15 Commission. Developer and the City represent and warrant to the other that they have 
not engaged, employed, or dealt with any broker, agent or finder in connection with this Agreement.   

Section 10.16 Incorporation of Exhibits.  All materials attached to this Agreement as exhibits are 
incorporated by reference as a part of this Agreement for all purposes as if set forth verbatim in the text 
of this Agreement. 

Section 10.17 Force Majeure.  Neither Developer nor the City shall be considered in default in its 
obligations to be performed hereunder if delay in the performance of such obligations is due to causes 
beyond its reasonable control and without its fault or negligence, including, but not limited to, acts of 
God or of the public enemy, failure or delay of the other party in the performance of its obligations 
hereunder, delay caused by governmental authority (other than the City), fires, floods, severe weather, 
epidemics, freight embargoes, unavailability of materials, strikes or delays of contractors, 
subcontractors or materialmen due to any of such causes (“Force Majeure”), in each case which has the 
effect of making it impossible or impracticable for Developer or the City, as the case may be, to perform 
its obligations hereunder.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, Force Majeure 
delays shall not include delays caused by the failure or inability of the City to secure funds.   

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 



 

 - 14 -  
 
4871-0854-2890 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has caused this Agreement to be executed by 
a duly authorized officer thereof as of the day and date first above written.  

      
     CITY: 
 

CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA, a governmental 
subdivision of the State of Georgia 

 
 
     By:        

     Name:        

     Title:        
 
 
 

      DEVELOPER: 

ST. MARK’S TOWER’S PRESERVATION, LP, a Georgia 
limited partnership 

 

By:         

Name:        

Title:        



 

- A - 
 
4871-0854-2890 

EXHIBIT A 

Subrecipient Agreement 



 

- B - 
 
4871-0854-2890 

EXHIBIT B 

Description of the Work and Approved Budget 



 

- C1 - 
 
4871-0854-2890 

EXHIBIT C 

Legal Description 

All that certain lot or parcel of land situate in the County of Glynn, State of Georgia, and being more 
particularly described as follows: 

ALL THAT CERTAIN TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND LYING AND BEING IN G.M.D. 26, CITY OF BRUNSWICK, 
GLYNN COUNTY, GEORGIA AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT A 1/2" IRON PIN LOCATED AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTHERN RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 
PARKWOOD AVENUE (A/KA NEW STREET) AND THE EASTERN RIGHT-OF-WAY OF NORMAN STREET AND 
PROCEEDING THENCE NORTH 10 DEGREES 06 MINUTES 26 SECONDS EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 30.00' TO 
A 1/2" IRON PIN; THENCE PROCEED SOUTH 81 DEGREES 23 MINUTES 26 SECONDS EAST FOR A DISTANCE 
OF 34.87' TO 1'/2" IRON PIN ON THE EASTERN RIGHT-OF-WAY OF NORMAN STREET; THENCE PROCEED 
ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY OF NORMAN STREET NORTH 09 DEGREES 58 MINUTES 45 SECONDS EAST 
FOR A DISTANCE OF 175.22' TO A POINT; THENCE PROCEED SOUTH 80 DEGREES 49 MINUTES 56 
SECONDS EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 100.00' TO A POINT; THENCE PROCEED NORTH 09 DEGREES 58 
MINUTES 45 SECONDS EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 271.50' TO A 1/2" IRON PIN; THENCE PROCEED SOUTH 
81 DEGREES 19 MINUTES 56 SECONDS EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 576.35' TO A POINT; THENCE PROCEED 
SOUTH 09 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 04 SECONDS WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 445.10' TO A POINT; THENCE 
PROCEED NORTH 81 DEGREES 23 MINUTES 26 SECONDS WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 213.67' TO A NAIL; 
THENCE PROCEED SOUTH 05 DEGREES 32 MINUTES 50 SECONDS EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 219.50' TO A 
NAIL; THENCE PROCEED SOUTH 39 DEGREES 36 MINUTES 34 SECONDS WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 
101.68' TO A 1/2" IRON PIN; SOUTH 63 DEGREES 44 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 
86.20' TO A NAIL; THENCE PROCEED SOUTH 25 DEGREES 25 MINUTES 57 SECONDS WEST FOR A 
DISTANCE OF 51.06' TO A NAIL; THENCE PROCEED SOUTH 37 DEGREES 27 MINUTES 24 SECONDS WEST 
FOR A DISTANCE OF 61.12' TO A 1/2" IRON PIN; THENCE PROCEED SOUTH 76 DEGREES 33 MINUTES 11 
SECONDS WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 19.37' TO A 12" IRON PIN; THENCE PROCEED SOUTH 41 DEGREES 
58 MINUTES 42 SECONDS WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 24.78' TO A POINT; THENCE PROCEED NORTH 80 
DEGREES 25 MINUTES 16 SECONDS WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 355.58' TO A PUNCH HOLE ON THE 
EASTERN RIGHT-OF-WAY OF HAROLD J. FRIEDMAN DRIVE; THENCE PROCEED ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-
WAY OF HAROLD J. FRIEDMAN DRIVE NORTH 08 DEGREES 36 MINUTES 34 SECONDS EAST FOR A 
DISTANCE OF 443.64' TO A'/2" IRON PINE AND THE POINT OR PLACE OF BEGINNING. SAID PARCEL OF 
LAND CONTAINS 11.648 ACRES. 

AND BEING THE SAME PREMISES DESCRIBED ON THAT CERTAIN ALTA/NSPS LAND TITLE SURVEY 
PREPARED BY DURAND LAND SURVEYING, INC. DATED OCTOBER 20, 2023, AND DESIGNATED AS JOB NO. 
23-108 CAR, AS FOLLOWS: 

ALL THAT CERTAIN TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND LYING AND BEING IN G.M.D. 26, CITY OF BRUNSWICK, 
GLYNN COUNTY, GEORGIA AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT A 1/2" IRON PIN LOCATED AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTHERN 60’ RIGHT OF WAY 
OF PARKWOOD AVENUE (A/KA NEW STREET) AND THE EASTERN 80’ RIGHT-OF-WAY OF NORMAN 
STREET AND PROCEEDING THENCE NORTH 10°02'40" SECONDS EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 30.00' TO A 
1/2" IRON PIN; THENCE SOUTH 81°46'57" SECONDS EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 34.97' TO 1/2” IRON PIN 
ON THE EASTERN RIGHT-OF-WAY OF NORMAN STREET; THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 
NORMAN STREET NORTH 09°35'14" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 174.88' TO A POINT; THENCE LEAVING 



 - C2 -  
 
4871-0854-2890 

SAID RIGHT OF WAY AND PROCEED SOUTH 81°13'27" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 99.73' TO A POINT; 
THENCE NORTH 09°35'14" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 271.50' TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 81°43'27" 
EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 576.52' TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 09°16'33" FOR A DISTANCE OF 444.76' 
TO A POINT; THENCE NORTH 81°46'57" SECONDS WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 213.67' TO A 1/2” IRON 
PIN; THENCE SOUTH 05°56'21" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 219.50' TO A 1/2” IRON PIN; THENCE SOUTH 
39°13'03" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 101.68' TO A 1/2" IRON PIN; THENCE SOUTH 63°20'49" WEST FOR 
A DISTANCE OF 86.20' TO A 1/2" IRON PIN; THENCE SOUTH 25°02'26" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 51.06' 
TO A 1/2” IRON PIN; THENCE SOUTH 37°03'53" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 61.12' TO A POINT; THENCE 
PROCEED SOUTH 76°09'40" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 19.37' TO A 1/2" IRON PIN; THENCE PROCEED 
SOUTH 41°35'11" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 24.78' TO A POINT; THENCE PROCEED NORTH 80°48'47" 
WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 355.58' TO A POINT ON 60’ PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY OF HAROLD J. FRIEDMAN 
DRIVE; THENCE PROCEED ALONG THE R/W OF HAROLD J. FRIEDMAN DRIVE NORTH 08°11'43" EAST FOR 
A DISTANCE OF 443.64' TO A 1/2" IRON PIN AND THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

SAID TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND CONTAINING 11.64 ACRES MORE OR LESS



 

- D - 
 
4871-0854-2890 

EXHIBIT D 

Approved Budget and Statement of Work  



 

- E - 
 
4871-0854-2890 

EXHIBIT E 

Approved Schedule 


	Agenda
	Encl. 1 - Proclamation - Health Center Week - Coastal Community Health
	Encl. 2 - 7.15.24 minutes
	Encl. 3 - Safe Streets for All MOU
	Encl. 4 - SE Crescent Regional Comm. Grant
	Encl. 5 - GA Environ. Finance Auth. Agreement
	Encl. 6 - GMC Grant Administration Re GA Environ. Finance Auth. Agreement
	Encl. 7 - 1420 Newcastle Enterprise Zone Incentives
	Encl. 8 - 1617 Norwich Enterprise Zone Incentives
	Encl. 9 - Audit Engagement Letter with Mauldin & Jenkins FY24
	Encl. 10 - Financial Reports as of June 30, 2024
	Encl. 11 - Judge Service Agreement Clark 7.15.24
	Encl. 12 - GB 911 Svc. Agreement-Jekyll Island
	Encl. 13 - GB 911 Svc. Agreement - CCGA
	Encl. 14 - St. Marks Towers Development Agreement

	the abovereferenced project_8: 
	am the Authorized Official for_8: 
	Date_8: 
	Printed Name of Authorized Official_8: 
	Signature8_es_:signer:signature: 


